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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 March 2017
CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED 
(THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a higher investment risk 
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of 
the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and 
careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more 
suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be 
more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and 
no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the 
contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability 
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Reach New Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and 
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of 
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the 
Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the 
information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and 
there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Reach New Holdings Limited (the “Company”, and together with its 

subsidiaries, the “Group”), I am pleased to present the first annual report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2017 after the 

successful listing of the Company’s shares (the “Share(s)”) on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) 

on 21 July 2017 (the “Listing”). The Listing has marked a milestone for the Group.

The PRC garment accessories market has been facing numerous challenges during 2017. Our business was inevitably affected by the keen 

price competition in the market and the pressure of increasing operating costs especially the labour costs and material costs. During 2017, 

the Group recorded revenue of approximately RMB102.8 million, representing a slight decrease of approximately 2.3% as compared to 

that of last year. While the Group’s gross profit for 2017 was approximately RMB36.0 million, representing a decrease of approximately 

9.1% as compared to that of last year.

With the rich industry experience and expertise of our Directors and management, we managed the Group’s operations with the best 

effort to alleviate the impact from those challenges in the market.

In view of the rapid changes in the PRC garment accessory industry, we will carefully and regularly evaluate the market conditions for the 

Group to execute our implementation plan set out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Our Proceeds” of our prospectus dated 

30 June 2017. Meanwhile, in order to deal with the challenging market conditions, the Group will continue to undertake cost control 

measures and broaden customer base and product offerings. We will endeavor to maintain our growth in our comprehensive labelling 

solution services, production management and customer services and enhance our overall competitiveness and market share.

Though we foresee that the coming years should continue to be challenging for the garment accessory market, it is also a relatively stable 

market and expected to keep steady growth in the coming years. We are optimistic towards our business and shall continue to capture 

market opportunities so as to achieve a sustainable business growth and long-term benefits for our shareholders.

Finally, on behalf of the Board and the management, I wish to extend my sincere appreciation to all of our staff for their tireless efforts, 

diligence and contribution during 2017, and express my utmost gratitude to all shareholders, investors, customers, suppliers and business 

partners for their continued and valuable support and trust to the Group.

REACH NEW HOLDINGS LIMITED

LAM CHEUNG CHUEN

Chairman and non-executive Director

Hong Kong, 23 March 2018
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

The Group is an established labelling solution provider and a one-stop garment accessories manufacturer and supplier based in the PRC. 

The Group mainly engages in the production of three types of products, which are (i) printed products (e.g. hangtags, price tags and 

stickers), (ii) woven labels (e.g. woven brand labels, woven size labels and badges) and (iii) printed labels (e.g. printed brand labels, printed 

size labels and care content labels). The Group also sources and sells other garment accessories, such as tapes, hanging tablets, string 

locks, leather badge, buttons and metal products, to the customers in the PRC. The Group’s customers include (i) garment brand 

companies, (ii) sourcing companies designated by the garment brand companies and (iii) garment manufacturers in the PRC.

The successful Listing on 21 July 2017 (the “Listing Date”) by way of share offer was a milestone for the Group in improving capital 

strength and corporate governance as well as enhancing its competitive edge.

Looking forward, the Directors consider that the future opportunities and challenges facing the Group will continue to be affected by the 

development of the garment accessory market in the PRC as well as factors affecting the labour costs and material costs. The Directors are 

of the view that further development of garment market in the PRC, shortening of garment updating cycle and the multifunction of labels 

remains to be the key driver for the growth of the PRC garment accessories industry.

With the Group’s experienced management team and reputation in the market, the Directors consider that the Group is well-positioned 

to compete against its competitors under such future challenges that are commonly faced by all competitors, and the Group will continue 

to pursue the following key business strategies: (i) further developing the garment accessory business of the Group by making use of 

additional financial resources available from the Listing on GEM on 21 July 2017, which allows the Group to upgrade the production 

facilities of the Group and digital printing technology; (ii) developing the capability of applying RFID technology to the products of the 

Group; (iii) enhancing the heat transfer printing production facilities; (iv) upgrading the information technology systems and (v) expanding 

the sales and marketing department.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group recorded revenue of approximately RMB102.8 million, a decrease of approximately 2.3% 

comparing with that of approximately RMB105.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2016. A breakdown on revenue of the Group by 

product types for 2016 and 2017 is summarised as below:

For the year ended 31 December

Product types 2017 2016

RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
  `    

Printed products 47,461 46.2 51,400 48.9

Woven labels 26,190 25.5 28,395 27.0

Printed labels 23,847 23.2 19,741 18.8

Others (note) 5,309 5.1 5,663 5.3
     

102,807 100.0 105,199 100.0
     

Note:	 Others include tapes, string locks, leather badge, buttons and metal products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The revenue of printed products decreased by approximately 7.7% for the year ended 31 December 2017 as comparing with that of the 

previous year. The revenue of woven label decreased by approximately 7.8% for the year ended 31 December 2017 as compared to the 

previous year. The aforesaid decrease in revenue was principally due to the decrease in sales volume caused by the changes of product 

structure initiated by garment brand companies given the monthly average price of paper pulp increased from approximately RMB4,300/

tonnes in 2016 to approximately 5,599/tonnes in 2017 according to the data from National Bureau of Statistics of the People’s Republic of 

China. However, the revenue of printed label increased by approximately 20.8% for the year ended 31 December 2017 as comparing with 

that of previous year. The Group will put more resources to expand the sales of printed products and woven labels in order to enhance its 

profitability.

Cost of Sales and gross profit

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group’s gross profit decreased by approximately 9.1% from approximately RMB39.6 million 

for the year ended 31 December 2016 to approximately RMB36.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2017. The Group’s cost of sales 

primarily consists of material costs, direct labour costs, subcontracting costs, rental and rates, depreciation on machinery and utilities. 

During the year ended 31 December 2017, despite decrease of revenue, the material costs increased by approximately RMB2.8 million 

principally due to the increase in unit price of material cost such as paper and yarn. As a result, the Group’s gross profit margin decreased 

from approximately 37.7% for the year ended 31 December 2016 to approximately 35.1% for the year ended 31 December 2017.

Other income, gains and losses

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group recorded an other losses of RMB0.3 million comparing with an other gains of RMB1.4 

million for the year ended 31 December 2016. During the year ended 31 December 2016, a gain on disposal of a property located in the 

PRC, that was used as a director’s quarters of Mr. Jeffery Lam, of approximately RMB1.0 million was recorded.

Distribution and selling expenses

Distribution and selling expenses decreased to approximately RMB4.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2017 from approximately 

RMB5.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2016, which was mainly due to decrease in freight charges.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses increased to approximately RMB23.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2017 from approximately RMB18.3 

million for the year ended 31 December 2016, which was mainly due to increase in compliance costs incurred after the Listing and 

increase in administrative staff cost.

Listing expenses

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group recognised non-recurring listing expenses of approximately RMB11.0 million (31 

December 2016: approximately RMB2.3 million) as expenses in connection with the Listing.

Income Tax expense

Income tax expense of the Group decreased from approximately RMB5.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2016 to approximately 

RMB3.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2017. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in profit before tax, excluding the 

effect of non-deductible expenses, e.g. the listing expenses and non-chargeable other income items.

Loss for the year

As a result of the foregoing, the loss for the year ended 31 December 2017 amounted to approximately RMB6.5 million, which included 

the non-recurring listing expenses of approximately RMB11.0 million for the year ended 2017 (31 December 2016: approximately RMB2.3 

million), comparing with profit of approximately RMB9.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2016.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had total assets of approximately RMB89.9 million (31 December 2016: approximately RMB67.4 

million), which was financed by total liabilities and shareholders’ equity (comprising share capital and reserves) of approximately RMB15.4 

million (2016: approximately RMB22.9 million) and approximately RMB74.5 million (31 December 2016: approximately RMB44.5 million), 

respectively.

The Group maintained sufficient working capital as at 31 December 2017 with bank balances and cash of approximately RMB44.6 million 

(31 December 2016: approximately RMB23.3 million). The Board of Directors will continue to follow a prudent treasury policy in managing 

its cash balances and maintain a strong and healthy liquidity to ensure that the Group is well placed to take advantage of growth 

opportunities for the business.

GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2017 was nil (31 December 2016: nil) as the Group had no outstanding loans and 

borrowings nor bank overdrafts as at 31 December 2017.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group has adopted a prudence financial management approach towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity 

position throughout the Year. The Group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by performance ongoing credit assessments and 

evaluations of the financial status of its customers. To manage liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to 

ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and other commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to 

time.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2017, the Group did not pledge any assets (31 December 2016: nil) as securities for any facilities granted to the Group.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The business operations of the Group’s subsidiaries were conducted mainly in the PRC with revenues and expenses of the Group’s 

subsidiaries denominated mainly in RMB. As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s cash and bank deposits, were denominated in RMB and 

HKD. Any significant exchange rate fluctuations of HKD against RMB as the functional currency may have a financial impact to the Group.

As at 31 December 2017, the Directors considered the Group’s foreign exchange risk to be insignificant. During the year ended 31 

December 2017, the Group did not use any financial instruments for hedging purposes.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Shares were successfully listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange on 21 July 2017. There has been no change in the capital structure of 

the Group since then. The share capital of the Group comprises ordinary Shares only.

As at 31 December 2017, the Company’s issued share capital was HK$8,000,000 and the number of its issued ordinary Shares was 

800,000,000 of HK$0.01 each.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

DIVIDEND

The Directors declared and paid a special dividend of RMB7.1 million to the then sole shareholder, Neo Concept Holdings Limited (“Neo 

Concept”), before the Listing. Save as the said special dividend, no dividend was declared during the year ended 31 December 2017 (31 

December 2016: nil).

COMMITMENTS

The operating lease commitments of the Group were primarily related to the leases of its premises for factory and office. The Group’s 

operating lease commitments amounted to approximately RMB4.3 million as at 31 December 2017 (31 December 2016: RMB7.1 million).

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

Segmental information is presented for the Group as disclosed on note 6 to the consolidated financial statements of this report.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the prospectus of the Company dated 30 June 2017 (the “Prospectus”) and this report, the Group did not have any 

plan for material investments or capital assets as of 31 December 2017.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT 
VENTURES

During the financial year ended 31 December 2017, the Group did not have any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, 

associates or joint ventures.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2017, the Group did not have any material contingent liabilities (31 December 2016: Nil).

EMPLOYMENTS AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2017, the Group employed a total of 328 employees (31 December 2016: 316 employees in mainland China and Hong 

Kong). The staff costs, including Directors’ emoluments, of the Group were approximately RMB27.4 million for the year ended 31 

December 2017 (2016: approximately RMB29.8 million). Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2017 amounted to 

approximately RMB2.6 million (2016: approximately RMB0.6 million) which included remuneration of the independent non-executive 

Directors for a total amount of approximately RMB0.2 million (2016: nil).

The Group promotes individuals based on their performance and development potential in the positions held. In order to attract and 

retain high quality staff, competitive remuneration package is offered to employees (with reference to market norms and individual 

employees’ performance, qualification and experience). On top of basic salaries, discretionary bonuses may be paid with reference to the 

Group’s performance as well as individual’s performance. Other staff benefits include provision of retirement benefits, medical benefits 

and sponsorship of training courses. Share options may also be granted to eligible employees by reference to the Group’s performance as 

well as individual contribution.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

The Group did not hold any significant investments during the year ended 31 December 2017.



REACH NEW HOLDINGS LIMITED 
ANNUAL REPORT� 20178

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s key risk exposure are summarised as follows:

(i)	 The Group has not entered into long-term contracts with the customers of the Group and it is difficult for the Group to forecast 

future order quantities;

(ii)	 Increases in the prices of raw materials may materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition and results of 

operations;

(iii)	 The Group may experience a shortage of labour or our labour costs may continue to increase;

(iv)	 The Group faces intense competition in the garment accessories industry in the PRC;

(v)	 The Group may lose its customers if its customers move their factories from the PRC;

(vi)	 The Group may exposed to environmental liabilities;

(vii)	 The Group may be subject to potential labour disputes and labour strikes.

For other risks and uncertainties facing the Group, please refer to the section headed “Risk Factors” in the Prospectus.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The key financial performance indicators of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 is set out in the section headed “Three Years’ 

Financial Summary” of the annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group’s operations are subject to certain environment requirements pursuant to the laws in the PRC, including primarily those in 

relation to prevention and reduction of pollution, water pollution control and waste disposal control.

The Group recognises its responsibility to protect the environment from its business activities. The Group continually seeks to identify and 

manage environmental impacts attributable to its operational activities in order to minimise these impacts if possible. The Group aims to 

promote efficient use of resources and adopting green technologies for emission reduction. For instance, the Group seeks to replace the 

equipment by the environmental friendly machines in order to minimise overall exhaust emission.

During the year, the Group did not record any non-compliance with applicable environmental requirements that resulted in prosecution 

or penalty being brought against the Group. During the year, the Group was not subject to any environmental claims, lawsuit, penalties or 

any disciplinary action.

For further information in relation to the environmental policies and performance of the Group, please refer to the Group’s Environment, 

Social and Governance Report for the year ended 31 December 2017 which will be published on the respective websites of the Stock 

Exchange and the Company with in three months of the date of this report in accordance with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

To the best of the Director’s knowledge, information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, the Group has complied in material 

respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Company and its 

subsidiaries during the Year.

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group maintains good relationship with its customers. The sales personnel and merchandisers make regular phone calls to the 

customers and visit them overseas periodically. If there is any complaint from customers, it will be reported to the management and 

immediate remedial action will be taken.

The Group also maintains a good relationship with its suppliers. During the year ended 31 December 2017, no complaint was received 

from the suppliers and there was no disputed debts or unsettled debts and all the debts are settled on or before due dates or a latest date 

as mutually agreed.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, there was no dispute on salary payments and all accrued remunerations were settled on or 

before their respective due dates, as stipulated under individual employee’s employment contract. The Group also ensures that all the 

employees are reasonably remunerated by regular review the policies on salary increment, promotion, bonus, allowances and all other 

related benefits.

In view of the above and as at the date of the annual report, there is no circumstance or any event which will have a significant impact on 

the Group’s business and on which the Group’s success depends.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

No significant events have taken place subsequent to 31 December 2017 and up to the date of this report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES WITH ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS

An analysis comparing the business objectives as set out in the Prospectus with the Group’s actual business progress for the period from 

the Listing Date to 31 December 2017 is set out below:

Business objectives Actual business progress up to 31 December 2017
  

Upgrading production facilities and digital 

  printing technology

The  Group will upgrade the production, facilities and digital printing technology 

according to the implementation plan as set out in the Prospectus.

Developing the capability of applying  

  RFID technology to the products of the Group

The  Group will develop the capability of applying RFID technology to the 

products of the Group according to the implementation plan as set out in the 

Prospectus.

Enhancing the heat transfer printing  

  production facilities

The Group has enhanced its heat transfer printing production facilities by 

acquiring certain relevant machines and hiring additional staff for heat transfer 

printing production.

Upgrading the information technology system The Group will upgrade the information technology system according to the 

implementation plan as set out in the Prospectus.

Expanding the sales and marketing department The Group will expand the sales and marketing departments according to the 

implementation plan as set out in the Prospectus.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds from the Listing, after deducting listing-related expenses, were approximately HK$37.6 million. After the Listing, a part of 

these proceeds have been applied for the purposes in accordance with the future plans and use of proceeds as set out in the Prospectus.

An analysis of the planned usage of net proceeds up to 31 December 2017 as stated in the Prospectus and the actual utilisation of the net 

proceeds from the Listing and up to 31 December 2017 is set out below:

Planned use of net proceeds

as stated in the Prospectus

up to 31 December 2017

Actual use of net proceeds

up to 31 December 2017

HK$’ million HK$’ million
   

Enhancing the heat transfer printing production facilities 3.0 3.0

The remaining unused net proceeds of approximately HK$34.6 million will be applied according to the implementation plan as set out in 

the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus.

The business objectives, future plans and planned use of proceeds as stated in the Prospectus were based on the best estimation and 

assumption of future market conditions made by the Group at the time of preparing the Prospectus while the proceeds were applied 

based on the actual development of the Group’s business and the industry.

All the unutilised balances of the net proceeds have been placed in licensed banks in Hong Kong or China as at 31 December 2017.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS

Chairman and non-executive Director

Mr. Lam Cheung Chuen (林長泉先生), aged 64

Mr. Lam is a founder of STL Garment Accessories and STL Apparel Accessories. He is one of the Controlling Shareholders of the Company. 

He is the father of Mr. Gabi Lam and Mr. Jeffrey Lam, the executive Directors. He was appointed as the Director on 22 January 2016 and 

was re-designated as the non-executive Director on 26 January 2017. He also serves as the chairman of the Board. He is responsible for 

overseeing the overall corporate development and strategic planning of the Group.

Mr. Lam completed his primary school education in the PRC in July 1966 and was conferred Honorary University Fellowship of Hong Kong 

Baptist University in September 2015. Mr. Lam has over 24 years of experience in the garment accessories manufacturing industry. Since 

the establishment of STL Garment Accessories in December 2001 and until Mr. Gabi Lam joined in March 2006 and took up the 

management of the Group in August 2006, Mr. Lam had overseen the day-to-day management of STL Garment Accessories. Mr. Lam 

currently serves as a director of all of the subsidiaries of Company, namely New Forest, Smart Trend, STL Garment Accessories and STL 

Apparel Accessories.

Mr. Lam has been an independent non-executive director of Ten Pao Group Holdings Limited (Stock code: 1979) since November 2015. 

Mr. Lam was a special committee member of the 11th session of and is a member of the 12th session of Huizhou City Committee of 

Guangdong Province of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (中國人民政治協商會議廣東省惠州市委員會).

Mr. Lam holds a number of social titles including the president of the 6th council of Huizhou City Huicheng District Foreign Investment 

Enterprise Association (惠州市惠城區外商投資企業協會), the vice president of the 6th council of Huizhou City Foreign Investment 

Enterprise Association (惠州市外商投資企業協會), a chairman of the Huizhou Division of the Federation of Hong Kong Industries of Pearl 

River Delta Council* (香港工業總會珠三角工業協會), the director of the Hong Kong Shine Tak Foundation (香港善德基金會) and the 

permanent honorary chairman of Hong Kong Baptist University Foundation (香港浸會大學基金).

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Kai Yuen (林啟源先生), aged 34

Mr. Gabi Lam was appointed as the Director on 22 January 2016 and was re-designated as the executive Director on 26 January 2017. He 

is responsible for overseeing the overall strategic planning, business development and day-to-day management of the Group’s operations.

Mr. Gabi Lam obtained a bachelor’s degree of business in management with distinction from the Queensland University of Technology in 

October 2004. He then obtained a master’s degree of business in entrepreneurship from the University of Queensland in December 2005. 

Mr. Gabi Lam has over 10 years of experience in the garment accessories manufacturing industry since he joined the Group in March 2006. 

He was then appointed as the general manager of STL Garment Accessories and STL Apparel Accessories in August 2006, being 

responsible for overseeing the factory operations of these companies, and gradually took up the management of the Group from Mr. Lam.

Mr. Gabi Lam currently serves as a director of all of the subsidiaries of the Company, namely New Forest, Smart Trend, STL Garment 

Accessories and STL Apparel Accessories. He is also the chief executive officer of the Group. Mr. Gabi Lam is the son of Mr. Lam and the 

elder brother of Mr. Jeffrey Lam.

�*  for identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lam Kai Cheong (林啟昌先生), aged 28

Mr. Jeffrey Lam was appointed as the Director on 22 January 2016 and was re-designated as the executive Director on 26 January 2017. He 

is responsible for overseeing the overall strategic planning, business development and day-to-day management of the Group’s operations.

Mr. Jeffrey Lam graduated from the University of Bath with a bachelor’s degree of science in accounting and finance in June 2012. Mr. 

Jeffrey Lam has around 4 years of experience in the garment accessories manufacturing industry. He was appointed as director of STL 

Apparel Accessories in April 2007 and joined STL Garment Accessories in August 2012 as general manager assistant, assisting Mr. Gabi Lam 

in overseeing the factory operations of these companies.

Mr. Jeffrey Lam currently serves as a director of three subsidiaries of the Company, namely Smart Trend, STL Garment Accessories and STL 

Apparel Accessories. He is also the accounting manager of Smart Trend. He is the son of Mr. Lam and the younger brother of Mr. Gabi Lam.

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Moy Yee Wo, Matthew (梅以和先生), aged 39

Mr. Moy Yee Wo, Matthew was appointed as the independent non-executive Director on 24 June 2017. He is the chairman of the 

nomination committee and a member of the audit committee and remuneration committee.

Mr. Moy graduated from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology with a bachelor’s degree of business administration in 

accounting in November 2001 and a master’s degree of business administration in April 2008. He has been a certified public accountant 

of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since July 2005.

Mr. Moy has over 10 years of experience in various sections of the finance industry including audit, corporate finance and asset 

management. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Moy worked for Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu from September 2001 to July 2006, and his last 

position held was senior accountant in the audit department. He then worked for UBS Securities Co. Limited as an associate from June 

2008 to October 2008, and participated in a telecommunication restructuring project. From October 2008 to April 2009, he worked for 

Business Development Asia (HK) Limited as an associate and participated in various merger and acquisition transactions. He also worked 

as a type 9 (asset management) licensed representative in VL Asset Management Limited from July 2011 to August 2012, managing an 

equity portfolio. Since August 2012, he has been the chief financial officer and company secretary of China Silver Group Limited, a 

company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 815). Since 22 February 2017, Mr. Moy has also been an independent non-executive 

director of Chi Ho Development Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8423) since March 2017.
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Mrs. So Chan Wai Hang (蘇陳偉香女士), also known as Ms. Chan Wai Hang (陳偉香女士), BBS, aged 68

Mrs. So Chan Wai Hang was appointed as the independent non-executive Director on 24 June 2017. She is the chairlady of the 

remuneration committee and a member of the audit committee and nomination committee.

Mrs. So completed her secondary education in Hong Kong in July 1967 and was conferred Honorary University Fellowship of Hong Kong 

Baptist University in September 2016. She has extensive experience in the manufacturing industry and has been engaged in such business 

for over 36 years. She has been the managing director of Yue Wing Cheong Manufactory Limited, which principally engages in the 

business of manufacturing handbags, since November 1980, during which she has been responsible for the overall management and 

strategic development of the company. She has also been the vice chairlady of Winnie Sanitary Product Limited since February 2013 and 

the vice chairlady of Su’s Dongguan Sanitary Product Limited since October 2013, both of which principally engage in the business of 

manufacturing sanitary products and she has been responsible for the overall management and strategic development of these 

companies. Mrs. So was awarded Bronze Bauhinia Star by the Government of Hong Kong on 1 July 2015.

Mr. Ho Yuk Hay (何旭晞先生), aged 38

Mr. Ho Yuk Hay was appointed as the independent non-executive Director on 24 June 2017. He is the chairman of the audit committee 

and a member of the remuneration committee and nomination committee.

Mr. Ho graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a bachelor’s degree of arts in accountancy in November 2001 and a 

master’s degree in corporate governance in October 2012. He has been a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of 

Certified Public Accountants since January 2005. He has also been associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and the 

Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators since February 2013.

Mr. Ho has over 15 years of experience in auditing and accounting. He worked for Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu from September 2001 to 

April 2011, and his last position held was senior manager in the audit department. He then worked for Sino Splendid Holdings Limited 

(formerly known as HONGKONG.COM CORPORATION and China.com Inc.), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8006), as 

financial controller from April 2011 to September 2012 and as the chief financial officer from September 2012 to October 2015. He also 

worked for Sinoref Holdings Limited (now known as Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited), a company listed on the Stock 

Exchange (stock code: 1020), as executive director from October 2013 to October 2014 and as company secretary from February 2014 to 

January 2015. He has been the financial controller of GCL New Energy Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock 

code: 451), since October 2015.
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Senior Management

Ms. Fok Wai Man (霍惠敏女士), aged 51, is the sales director of the Group and is primarily responsible for overseeing the sales and 

marketing department of the Group. Ms. Fok joined the Group on 1 September 2016. She completed secondary 5 studies at Bethel High 

School in July 1984. Ms. Fok has over 28 years of sales experience. She joined Mr. Lam’s then garment business, namely, Sun Tin Lun Label 

Weaving and Printing Factory, as a sales executive in March 1988. In July 1991, she left Sun Tin Lun Label Weaving and Printing Factory 

and joined another then business of Mr. Lam namely Sin Tin Lun (H.K.) Garment Accessories Company Limited until she left in September 

2016 and assumed the current position in the Group. Her last position held in Sin Tin Lun (H.K.) Garment Accessories Company Limited 

was sales director.

Mr. Chan Fei Fei (陳非非先生), aged 36, is the financial controller of the Group and is primarily responsible for overseeing the financial 

management of the Group. Mr. Chan joined the Group on 1 September 2016. He graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University 

with a bachelor’s degree of arts in accountancy in December 2005. He passed the third level in accounting examined by London Chamber 

of Commerce and Industry Examinations Board with credit in 2001. He has been a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute 

of Certified Public Accountants since February 2009.

Mr. Chan has over 9 years of experience in auditing, accounting and financial management. Prior to joining the Group, he worked for 

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu from August 2005 to December 2010, and his last position held was senior in the audit department. During the 

period between December 2010 and May 2011, he joined Casablanca International Limited as finance manager. From May 2011 to July 

2012, he worked as financial controller of Interior Contract International Limited. He then worked as financial control director of Toneluck 

Industrial Limited from August 2012 to September 2014. From January 2015 to June 2015, he worked as finance manager of Sin Tin Lun 

(H.K.) Garment Accessories Company Limited.

Mr. Yan Wenxin (顏文新先生), aged 44, is the factory manager of STL Garment Accessories and is primarily responsible for overseeing 

the factory operations and management of STL Garment Accessories. Mr. Yan joined STL Garment Accessories as factory manager in 

November 2015. He graduated from Guangdong Publications Technician College* (廣東省出版技工學校) in planography printing in July 

1994.

Mr. Yan has over 21 years of experience in the printing industry and factory management. Prior to joining the Group, he worked for 

Shenzhen Nine Stars Printing And Packaging Group Co Ltd* (深圳九星印刷包裝集團有限公司) from October 1994 to January 2003, and 

his last position held was head of engineering department. Between January 2003 and January 2004, he worked as manager of production 

department for Guangzhou Shenglan Industrial Co., Ltd.* (廣州市盛蘭印務有限公司). He then worked for DY Apparel (which was then 

named Sun Tin Lun Accessories (Huizhou) Company Limited*) from December 2004 to November 2015, and his last position held was 

factory manager.

Each of the senior management has not held directorships in the last three years in other public companies the securities of which are 

listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas.

�*  for identification purpose only
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Pursuant to Rule 18.44(2) of the GEM Listing Rules, the Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of the Company for 

the year ended 31 December 2017.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Directors and the management of the Group recognise the importance of sound corporate governance to the long-term success and 

continuing development of the Group. Therefore, the Board is committed to upholding good corporate standards and procedures, so as 

to improve the accountability system and transparency of the Group, protect the interests and create value for shareholders of the 

Company.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the principles and code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance 

Code and Corporate Governance Report (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules. During the year ended 31 

December 2017, to the best knowledge of the Board, the Company has complied with the applicable code provisions of the CG Code.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. Lam Cheung Chuen is the chairman of the Board and Mr. Gabi Lam is the chief executive officer of the Group during the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The key responsibilities of the Board include formulation of the Group’s overall strategies, the setting of management targets and 

supervision of management performance. The management is delegated with the authority and responsibility by the Board for the 

management and administration of the Group. In addition, the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to the board committees 

of the Company (the “Board Committees”). Further details of the Board Committees are set out below in this annual report.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties as set out in paragraph D.3.1 of the CG Code, which include the 

following:

1.	 to develop and review the policies and practices on corporate governance of the Group and make recommendations;

2.	 to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of the Directors and senior management;

3.	 to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4.	 to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to the Directors and employees; 

and

5.	 to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the corporate governance report of the Company.
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Composition of the Board

Up to the date of this annual report, the Board comprises six Directors, including one non-executive Director, two executive Directors and 

three independent non-executive Directors (the “INED”). The composition of the Board is set out as follow:

Non-executive Director
Mr. Lam Cheung Chuen

Executive Directors
Mr. Lam Kai Yuen

Mr. Lam Kai Cheong

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Moy Yee Wo, Matthew

Mrs. So Chan Wai Hang

Mr. Ho Yuk Hay

In compliance with rules 5.05(1) and 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules, the Board consisted of three INEDs during the Year, with at least one 

independent non-executive Director possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management 

expertise. During the Year and as of the date of this report, the number of INEDs represents more than one-third of the Board as required 

under rule 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules. As such, there is a strong independent element in the Board to provide independent 

judgement.

In accordance with code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, the Company has entered into a letter of appointment with each of the INEDs 

under which each INED is appointed for a fixed term (subject to re-election). Each of the letter of appointment is for a fixed term of one 

year initially commencing from the Listing Date and renewable automatically for successive term of one year unless terminated by either 

party in accordance with the terms thereof. Specific enquiry has been made by the Company of each of the INEDs to confirm their 

independence pursuant to rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. In this connection, the Company has received confirmations from all of the 

three INEDs as to their independence. Based on the confirmations received, the Company considers all the INEDs to be independent 

under the GEM Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Article 84 of the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”), one-third of the Directors shall retire from office by 

rotation at each annual general meeting and every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every 3 years. However, 

a retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

Saved as disclosed below and in the section “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report, there is no 

financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationship among members of the Board and senior management.

Board Diversity Policy

The composition of the Board reflects the necessary balance of skills and experience desirable for effective leadership of the Company and 

independence in decision making. Pursuant to the CG Code, the Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”). 

The Company recognises and benefits from the diversity of Board members. While appointments of all members of the Board will 

continue to be made on a merit basis, the Company will ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of 

perspectives appropriate to the needs of the Group’s business. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of perspectives, including 

but not limited to cultural, educational background, experience (professional or otherwise), skills and knowledge.
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Board and General Meetings

During the Year, three Board meetings were held. The first annual general meeting of the Company will be held on 4 May 2018 (the “2018 

AGM”).

The attendance record of each Director at the Board meeting for the Year is set out in the table below:

Number of Attendance/

number of Board Meetings
  

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Kai Yuen 3/3

Mr. Lam Kai Cheong 3/3

Non-executive Director

Mr. Lam Cheung Chuen 3/3

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Moy Yee Wo, Matthew 3/3

Mrs. So Chan Wai Hang 3/3

Mr. Ho Yuk Hay 3/3

CODE OF CONDUCT FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Group has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors as the required standard of dealings set out 

in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “Model Code”). The Company has also made specific enquiry of all the Directors and the 

Company was not aware of any non-compliance with the Model Code by the Directors during the year ended 31 December 2017.

Corporate Governance Functions and Conduct of Meetings

No corporate governance committee has been established and the Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance 

functions as set out in provision D.3.1 of the Code, such as developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on corporate 

governance, reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional development of the Directors and senior management, 

and reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, etc.

Provision A.1.3 of the Code stipulates that at least 14 days’ notice should be given for a regular Board meeting. For other Board and 

committee meetings, reasonable notices are required to be given. An agenda and accompanying board papers are sent to all Directors at 

least three days before each Board meeting to keep the Directors appraised of the latest developments and financial position of the 

Company and to enable them to make informed decisions. All the Directors are given an opportunity to include matters in the agenda for 

regular Board meetings. The Directors also have separate independent professional advice at the Company’s expense to assist them in 

performing their duties to the Company if necessary. Minutes of all Board meetings recording sufficient details of matters considered and 

decisions made are duly kept by the secretary of the meetings and open for inspection on reasonable notice by the Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

The Group acknowledges the importance of continuing professional development for the Directors for a sound and effective internal 

control system and corporate governance. In this regard, the Group has always encouraged the Directors to attend relevant training 

courses to receive the latest news and knowledge regarding corporate governance.

During the Year, the Company has, among other things, provided and all Directors have attended at least one training course on the 

updates of the GEM Listing Rules concerning good corporate governance practices. The Company will, if necessary, provide timely and 

regular trainings to the Directors to ensure that they keep abreast with the current requirements under the GEM Listing Rules.

According to the training records maintained by the Company, the trainings received by each of the Directors (including directors’ 

induction training) up to 31 December 2017 are summarised as follows:

Name of Directors Type of trainings
  

Mr. Lam Cheung Chuen A, B

Mr. Lam Kai Yuen A, B

Mr. Lam Kai Cheong A, B

Mr. Moy Yee Wo, Matthew A, B

Mrs. So Chan Wai Hang A, B

Mr. Ho Yuk Hay A, B

A:	 attending seminars/conferences/forums
B:	 reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the economy, corporate governance and directors’ duties and responsibilities

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established a number of functional committees in compliance with the relevant GEM Listing Rules and to assist the Board 

to discharge its duties. Currently, three committees have been established. An audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) has been 

established on 24 June 2017 with its terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules, and paragraphs 

C3.3 and C3.7 of the CG Code; a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) has been established on 24 June 2017 with its 

terms of reference in compliance with paragraph B1.2 of the CG Code; and a nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) has 

been established on 24 June 2017 with its terms of reference in compliance with paragraph A5.2 of the CG Code. The functions and 

responsibilities of these committees have been set out in the relevant terms of reference which are of no less stringent than that stated in 

the CG Code. The relevant terms of reference of each of the three committees can be found on the Group’s website (www.sthl.com.hk) 

and the website of the Stock Exchange.

All committees have been provided with sufficient resources and support from the Group to discharge their duties.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) on 24 June 2017 with its written terms of reference in 

compliance with paragraphs C3.3 and C3.7 of the CG Code. The Audit Committee consists of three members, namely Mr. Ho Yuk Hay, Mr. 

Moy Yee Wo, Matthew and Mrs. So Chan Wai Hang, all being independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Ho Yuk Hay currently serves as the 

chairman of the Audit Committee, who has appropriate professional qualifications and experience in accounting matters. The members of 

the Audit Committee shall comprise non-executive Directors and shall be appointed or removed by the Board. If any member of the Audit 

Committee ceases to be a Director, he/she will cease to be a member of the Audit Committee automatically.
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The Audit Committee must comprise a minimum of three members, at least one of whom is an INED with appropriate professional 

qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise as required under Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules. In addition, 

the majority of the Audit Committee shall be INEDs.

With reference to the terms of reference, the primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee are, among others, the following (for the 

complete terms of reference, please refer to the Group’s website at www.sthl.com.hk or the website of the Stock Exchange):

1.	 to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the Company’s external auditor, and 

approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the Company’s external auditor;

2.	 to review and monitor the Company’s external auditor’s independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in 

accordance with applicable standards;

3.	 to develop and implement policy on engaging the Company’s external auditor to supply non-audit services, if any;

4.	 to monitor integrity of the Company’s financial statements, annual report and accounts, half-year report and quarterly report and 

review significant financial reporting judgments contained in them;

5.	 to discuss with the Company’s external auditors questions and doubts arising in the audit of annual accounts;

6.	 to review the statement about the Company’s internal control system as included in the Company’s annual report prior to 

submission for the Board’s approval;

7.	 to review the Company’s financial reporting, financial controls, and unless expressly addressed by a separate board risk committee, 

or by the board itself, to review the Company’s risk management and internal control systems;

8.	 to discuss the risk management and internal control systems with the Company’s management to ensure that management has 

performed its duty to have effective systems;

9.	 to consider major investigation findings on risk management and internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on its own 

initiative and management’s response to these findings;

10.	 to review the financial and accounting policies and practices of the Group;

11.	 to review the external auditor’s management letter, any material queries raised by the auditor to the management in respect of 

accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control and management’s response;

12.	 to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the issues raised in the external auditor’s management letter;

13.	 to report to the Board on that matters pursuant to the terms of reference of the Audit Committee and consider other topics as 

defined by the Board; and

14.	 to review arrangements that employees of the Company can use, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties in 

financial reporting, internal control or other matters.
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The Board is of the view that the Audit Committee has properly discharged its duties and responsibilities during the Year and up to the 

date of this report.

The members of the Audit Committee should meet at least twice a year. During the Year, two Audit Committee meetings were held.

The attendance records of the members of the Audit Committee are summarised below:

Members of the Audit Committee Number of attendance
  

Mr. Ho Yuk Hay (Chairman) 2/2

Mr. Moy Yee Wo, Matthew 2/2

Mrs. So Chan Wai Hang 2/2

The following is a summary of the works performed by the Audit Committee during the Year:

(a)	 reviewed the Group’s consolidated financial result for the six months ended 30 June 2017 and the nine months ended 30 

September 2017 before submission to the Board, with a focus on compliance with accounting standards, the GEM Listing Rules and 

other requirements in relation to financial reporting of the Audit Committee;

(b)	 discussed the effectiveness of the internal controls system throughout the Group, including financial, operational and compliance 

controls, and risk management;

(c)	 reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and other financial reporting matters.

There is no disagreement between the Directors and the Audit Committee regarding the selection and appointment of the external 

auditor. The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management and the Company’s auditor the accounting principles and practices 

adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters including the audited financial statements 

for the Year.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members, namely Mrs. So Chan Wai Hang (Chairlady), Mr. May Yee Wo, Matthew and Mr. 

Ho Yuk Hay, all being independent non-executive Directors of the Company.

With reference to the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee, the primary responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee 

include, among other things, the following (for the complete terms of references, please refer to the Group’s website at www.sthl.com.hk 

or the website of the Stock Exchange):

1.	 to consult the chairman of the Board and/of chief executive about their remuneration proposals for other executive Directors;

2.	 to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management 

remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

3.	 to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

4.	 to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior management;

5.	 to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors;
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6.	 to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere 

in the Group;

7.	 to review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors and senior management for any loss or termination of office or 

appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

8.	 to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that they 

are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and appropriate; and

9.	 to ensure that no Directors or any of his associates is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The members of the Remuneration Committee should meet at least once a year. During the Year, a meeting of the Remuneration 

Committee was held and has, inter alia, reviewed the remuneration packages for individual executive Directors and senior management 

and making recommendations to the Board.

The attendance records of the members of the Remuneration Committee are summarised below:

Members of the Remuneration Committee Number of attendance
  

Mrs. So Chan Wai Hang (Chairlady) 1/1

Mr. Moy Yee Wo, Matthew 1/1

Mr. Ho Yuk Hay 1/1

The emolument payable to the Directors depends on their respective contractual terms under the service contracts or the appointment 

letters (as the case may be), and as recommended by the Remuneration Committee. Details of the Directors’ emoluments are set out in 

note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises three members, namely Mr. Moy Yee Wo, Matthew (Chairman), Mrs. So Chan Wai Hang and Mr. Ho 

Yuk Hay, all being independent non-executive Directors of the Company.

With reference to the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee, the primary responsibilities of the Nomination Committee 

include, among other things, the following (for the complete terms of reference please refer to the Group’s website at www.sthl.com.hk or 

the website of the Stock Exchange):

1.	 to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and make 

recommendations on proposed changes, if any, to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

2.	 to review the Company’s board diversity policy and the progress on achieving the objectives set for implementing the said policy;

3.	 to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make recommendations to the Board on the 

selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

4.	 to assess the independence of INEDs; and

5.	 to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of the Directors and succession planning for the 

Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive.
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The members of the Nomination Committee should meet at least once a year. During the Year, a meeting of the Nomination Meeting was 

held and has, inter alia, reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board, assessed the independence of the INEDs and 

considered the Directors to retire and re-appoint at the 2018 AGM.

The attendance records of the members of the Nomination Committee are summarised below:

Members of the Nomination Committee Number of attendance
  

Mr. Moy Yee Wo, Matthew (Chairman) 1/1

Mr. Ho Yuk Hay 1/1

Mrs. So Chan Wai Hang 1/1

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The amount of fees charged by the external auditor generally depends on the scope and volume of the external auditor’s work performed.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the remuneration paid or payable to the external auditor of the Company in respect of the 

statutory audit services and non-audit services for the Group are as follows:

Fees paid/payable

for the services rendered

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Statutory audit services 935 324

Non-audit services for reviewing interim results 200 –

Non-audit services for acting as reporting accountant for the Listing and tax services 1,706 394

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Fei Fei was appointed as the company secretary of the Company on 26 January 2017. Please refer to the section “Biographical 

details of Directors and Senior Management” for his biographical information.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the company secretary. The company secretary reports to the Chairman of the 

Board and are responsible for ensuring that board procedures are followed, and for facilitating communications among Directors as well 

as with shareholders of the Company and management. During the year ended 31 December 2017, the company secretary has taken no 

less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. Gabi Lam, an executive Director of the Board, is the compliance officer of the Group. Please refer to the section “Biographical details of 

Directors and Senior Management” for her biographical information.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment, maintenance and review of the Group’s internal control system to safeguard 

shareholder investments and the assets of the Group. The internal control system of the Group aims to facilitate effective and efficient 

operation which in turn minimises the risks to which the Group is exposed. The system can only provide reasonable but not absolute 

assurance against misstatement or losses.
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The Board has conducted a review of the implemented system and procedures, covering financial, operational and legal compliance 

controls and risk management functions. The Directors consider that the Group has implemented appropriate procedures safeguarding 

the Group’s assets against unauthorised use or misappropriation, maintaining proper accounting records, execution with appropriate 

authority and compliance of the relevant laws and regulations.

The Group recognises that good risk management is essential for the long-term development on the Group’s business. The management 

is responsible to establish, implement, review and evaluate effectiveness of the internal control system underpinning the risk 

management framework. Upon taking into full account of the new requirements effective from 1 January 2016 under the GEM Listing 

Rules brought by the Stock Exchange relating to risk management and internal control, the management has formulated the risk 

management and control framework. All employees are committed to implementing the risk management framework into the daily 

operation.

OBJECTIVES OF RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group has adopted a three-tier risk management approach to identify, assess, mitigate and handle risks. At the first line of defence, 

business units are responsible for identifying, assessing and monitoring risks associated with each business or deal. The management, as 

the second line of defence, defines rule sets and models, provides technical support, develops new systems and oversees portfolio 

management. It ensures that risks are within the acceptable range and that the first line of defence is effective. As the final line of defence, 

the audit committee of the Company, with the professional advices and opinions from the external professional company by whom 

internal audit work of the Group was conducted on annual basis, ensures that the first and second lines of defence are effective through 

constant inspection and monitoring.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge and understand their responsibility for preparing the consolidated financial statements and to ensure that the 

consolidated financial statements of the Group are prepared in a manner which reflects the true and fair view of the state of affairs, results 

and cash flows of the Group and are in compliance with the relevant accounting standards and principles, applicable laws and disclosure 

provisions required under the GEM Listing Rules.

The Directors are of the view that the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year has been prepared on this basis.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, there is no uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the 

Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, therefore the Directors continue to adopt the going concern approach in preparing the 

consolidated financial statements.

Statement of the Company’s external auditors’ responsibilities in respect of the consolidated financial statements is set out in the 

Independent Auditors’ Report of this annual report.

GENERAL MEETINGS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The annual general meeting (“AGM”) is a forum in which the Board and the shareholders communicate directly and exchange views 

concerning the affairs and overall performance of the Group, and its future developments, etc.

At the AGM, the shareholders will be given the opportunity to raise questions to the Directors (including the INEDs). The external auditor 

of the Company is also invited to be present at the AGM to address the queries of the shareholders concerning the audit procedures and 

the auditor’s report.
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The forthcoming AGM of the Company (the “2018 AGM”) will be held on 4 May 2018, the notice of which shall be sent to the shareholders 

of the Company in accordance with the Articles, the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable laws and regulations.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for convening an extraordinary general meeting upon shareholders’ requisition

The shareholders shall be entitled to convene an extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM”) on requisition by shareholders pursuant to 

Article 64 of the Articles that the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an EGM on the requisition of one or more shareholders 

holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting 

at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the company secretary of the Company for the purpose of 

requiring an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition, and such meeting shall be 

held within 2 months after the deposit of such requisition. If, within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such 

meeting, the requisitionists themselves may convene a meeting in accordance with the Articles and all reasonable expenses incurred by 

the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisition(s) by the Company.

Procedures for Shareholders’ Nomination of Directors

Pursuant to Article 113 of the Articles, no person, other than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the Board for election, be 

eligible for election to the office of Director at any general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to propose that person for 

election as a Director (signed by a member duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting), notice in writing by that person of his 

willingness to be elected and the biographical details of that person as required under Rule 17.50(2) of the GEM Listing Rules for 

publication by the Company shall have been lodged at the head office or at the registration office of the Company, provided that the 

minimum length of the period during which such notices to the Company may be given shall be at least 7 days and that (if such notices 

are submitted after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election) the period for lodgment of the notices 

required under this Article will commence on the day after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election 

and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such general meeting.

Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings, share transfer, registration and payment of dividend to the 

Company’s Hong Kong share registrar (details of which are set out in the section headed “Corporate Information” of this annual report).

Should there be any enquiries and concerns from shareholders, they may send in written enquiries addressed to the head office and 

principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Room 820, 8th Floor, Fortune Commercial Building, 362 Sha Tsui Road, Tsuen 

Wan, New Territories, Hong Kong by post for the attention of the Board and/or the Company Secretary.

Shareholders are reminded to lodge their questions together with their detailed contact information for the prompt response from the 

Company.

Investor Relations

The Company has established a range of communication channels between itself and its shareholders, and investors. These include 

answering questions through the annual general meeting, the publication of annual, interim and quarterly reports, notices, 

announcements and circulars, the Company’s website at www.sthl.com.hk and meetings with investors and shareholders. News update of 

the Group’s business development and operation are also available on the Company’s website.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report and the audited consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended  

31 December 2017 as follows:

Significant Changes in Constitutional Documents

Save for the adoption of the amended and restated memorandum and articles of association of the Company for the purpose of the 

Listing, there had been no significant changes in the constitutional documents of the Company during the year.

CORPORATE REORGANISATION

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 22 January 2016.

In preparing for the listing of the shares on GEM on the Listing Date, the Group underwent the Corporate Reorganisation (as defined 

under note 1 to the consolidated financial statements) and the Company became the holding company of the companies comprising the 

Group upon the completion of the Corporate Reorganisation on 30 November 2016.

Details of the Corporate Reorganisation are set out in the section headed “History, Development and Reorganisation” in the Prospectus 

and note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. The Shares of the Company have been listed on GEM since 21 July 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is an established labelling solution provider and a one-stop garment accessories manufacturer and supplier based in the PRC. 

We mainly engage in the production of three types of products, which are (i) printed products (e.g. hangtags, price tags and stickers), (ii) 

woven labels (e.g. woven brand labels, woven size labels and badges) and (iii) printed labels (e.g. printed brand labels, printed size labels 

and care content labels). We also source and sell other garment accessories, such as tapes, hanging tablets, string locks, leather badge, 

buttons and metal products, to the customers of the Group in the PRC. The customers of the Group include (i) garment brand companies, 

(ii) sourcing companies designated by the garment brand companies and (iii) garment manufacturers in the PRC.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the 

laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”), including a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, key 

performance indicators, environmental policies of the Group, compliance with laws and regulations by the Group, its relationship with 

customers, suppliers, subcontractors and employees and an indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business, can be 

found in the Management Discussion and Analysis set out on pages 4 to 10 of this annual report. This discussion forms part of this 

directors’ report.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the Year by operating segment is set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income on page 39 of this annual report.

The Board did not recommend payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2017.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group is set out on page 80 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movement during the Year in the property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note 13 to the consolidated 

financial statements of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements during the Year in the share capital of the Company are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial 

statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2017, the Company has no reserves available for distribution to the shareholders, calculated in accordance with the 

Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company conditionally adopted a share option scheme on 24 June 2017 (the “Scheme”). The terms of the Scheme are in accordance 

with the provision of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules.

No share option has been granted since the adoption of the Scheme and there was no share option outstanding as at 31 December 2017.
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DISCLOSURES OF INTERESTS

A.	 Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares or 
Debentures

As at 31 December 2017, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares, the 

underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meanings of Part XV of the 

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) which were required to be notified to the 

Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which 

any such director or chief executive was taken or deemed to have under such provision of the SFO) or which were required, 

pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to standard of 

dealings by Directors as referred to in Rule 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock 

Exchange were as follows:

Interests in the company

Name of Director Capacity/nature of interest Number of Shares

Percentage of interest

in the Company
    

Mr. Lam Interest in controlled  

  corporation (Note)

600,000,000 (Long position) 75%

Note:	  The 600,000,000 Shares are held by Neo Concept, which is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Lam. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Lam is deemed to be 
interested in all the Shares held by Neo Concept.

Interests in associated corporations of the company

Name of Director

Name of associated

corporation Nature of interest

Number of shares

in associated

corporation

Percentage of

shareholding in

associated 

corporation
     

Mr. Lam Neo Concept Beneficial owner 100 (Long position) 100%

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, none of the Directors and chief executive of the Company had any interests or 

short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the 

meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange under Divisions 7 and 8 

of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the 

SFO); or which would be required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or pursuant 

to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to securities transactions by the Directors, required to be notified to the 

Company and the Stock Exchange.



REACH NEW HOLDINGS LIMITED 
ANNUAL REPORT� 201728

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

B.	 Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying 
Shares and Debentures

So far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 December 2017, the following persons (other than the Directors and chief executive of the 

Company) had or deemed or taken to have an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares which were recorded in 

the register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or which would fall to be disclosed 

under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and the GEM Listing Rules.

Name Capacity/nature of interest Number of shares

Percentage of interest

in the Company
    

Neo Concept Beneficial owner 600,000,000 (Long position) 75%

Ms. Wong Ching Yuk Interest of spouse (Note) 600,000,000 (Long position) 75%

Note:	 Ms. Wong Ching Yuk is the spouse of Mr. Lam. Under the SFO, Ms. Wong Ching Yuk is deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares in which 
Mr. Lam is interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, no person, other than the Directors and chief executive of the Company whose 

interests are set out in the section “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in the Shares, the Underlying Shares 

or Debentures” above, had notified the Company of an interest or short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of 

the Company that was required to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the 

SFO or which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS

During the Year, the Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately 28.6% (2016: 23.1%) of the total revenue of the Group 

and the largest customer of the Group accounted for approximately 17.5% (2016: 14.5%) of the total revenue.

To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors or any of their respective close associates, or any shareholder (which 

to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the Group’s five largest 

customers.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND SUBCONTRACTORS

During the Year, the Group’s five largest suppliers (including the subcontractors) accounted for approximately 38.7% (2016: 36.6%) of the 

total purchases of the Group and the largest supplier of the Group accounted for approximately 17.4% (2016: 9.6%) of the total purchases.

To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors or any of their respective close associates, or any shareholder (which 

to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the Group’s five largest 

suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual report were:

Non-executive Director

Mr. Lam Cheung Chuen (Chairman)
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Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Kai Yuen

Mr. Lam Kai Cheong

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Moy Yee Wo, Matthew

Mrs. So Chan Wai Hang

Mr. Ho Yuk Hay

Information regarding directors’ emoluments is set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

An annual confirmation of independence pursuant to the requirements under Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules has been received from 

each of the INEDs.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Brief biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages from 11 to 14 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the Company for an initial term of three years commencing 

from the Listing Date and renewable automatically for successive terms of one year until terminated by the Director or the Company in 

accordance with the terms of the agreement. Each independent non-executive Directors was appointed under a letter of appointment for 

a fixed term of one year initially commencing from the Listing Date and renewable automatically for successive term of one year unless 

terminated by either party in accordance with the terms thereof.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors proposed for election at the forthcoming AGM has or is proposed to have a service 

contracts with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment 

compensation, other than the statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ RETIREMENT AND RE-ELECTION

Pursuant to Article 108 of the Articles, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the 

number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation at each annual general meeting of the Company, 

provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible 

for re-election and shall continue to act as a Director throughout the meeting at which he retires. The Directors to retire by rotation every 

year shall include (so far as necessary to ascertain the number of Directors to retire by rotation) any Director who wishes to retire and not 

to offer himself for re-election. Any further Directors so to retire shall be those of the other Directors subject to retirement by rotation who 

have been longest in office since their last re-election or appointment and so that as between persons who became or were last re-

elected Directors on the same day those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot. Any 

Director appointed by the Board pursuant to Article 112 shall not be taken into account in determining which particular Directors or the 

number of Directors who are to retire by rotation.
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Pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general 

meeting of members of the Company after his appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting and any Director appointed by 

the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the Company and 

shall then be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with Articles 108 and 112 of the Articles, Mr. Lam Cheung Chuen, Mr. Lam Kai Yuen, Mr. Lam Kai Cheong, Mr. Moy Yee Wo, 

Matthew, Mrs. So Chan Wai Hang and Mr. Ho Yuk Hay will retire at the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-

election at the forthcoming AGM.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF 
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and elsewhere in this annual report, no transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in 

relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which the Director or an entity 

connected the Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at any time during the Year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there were no contracts of significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and a 

controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries or any contracts of significance for the provision of services to the Company or any of its 

subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in note 10, to the consolidated 

financial statements in this annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee will review and determine the remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors and senior 

management with reference to their responsibilities, workload, time devoted to the Group and the performance of the Group. The 

Directors and other employees who have made valuable contribution to the Group may also receive options to be granted under the 

Scheme.

COMPETING INTERESTS

The Directors are not aware of any business or interest of the Directors nor the controlling shareholder of the Company nor any of their 

respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) that compete or may compete with the business of the Group and any 

other conflicts of interest which any such person has or may have with the Group during the year ended 31 December 2017.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

The deed of non-competition dated 29 June 2017 has been entered into by Mr. Lam Cheung Chuen and Neo Concept Holdings Limited, 

being the controlling shareholders of the Company within the meaning of the GEM Listing Rules (collectively the “Controlling 

Shareholders”) in favour of the Company and its subsidiaries regarding certain non-competition undertakings. The details of the deed of 

non-competition have been disclosed in the section headed “Relationship with the Controlling Shareholders” of the Prospectus.
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The Company has received an annual declaration from each of the Controlling Shareholders confirming that he/she/it has complied with 

the non-competition undertakings provided to the Company under the said deed of non-competition during the Year. The independent 

non-executive Directors have reviewed the status of compliance and enforcement of the non-competition undertakings and confirmed 

that all the undertakings thereunder have been complied for the Year.

INTEREST OF COMPLIANCE ADVISER

As at 31 December 2017, as notified by the Company’s compliance adviser, Alliance Partners Capital Limited (the “Compliance Adviser”), 

except for the compliance adviser agreement entered into between the Company and the Compliance Adviser dated on 7 March 2017, 

neither the Compliance Adviser nor its directors, employees or close associates had any interests in relation to the Company which is 

required to be notified to the Group pursuant to Rule 6A.32 of the GEM Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

At no time during the Year was there any permitted indemnity provisions (whether made by the Company or otherwise) being in force for 

the benefit of any Directors of the Company, or of its associated company.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions entered into by the Group with Sweater Garment (Huizhou) Company Limited (“Sweater Garment 

(Huizhou)”) during the Year as set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements are continuing connected transactions which 

are subject to the reporting, annual review and announcement requirements but are exempt from the independent shareholders’ 

approval requirements pursuant to Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. Further details of these continuing connected transactions are set 

out in the section headed “Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus.

The Group has applied to the Stock Exchange for, and the Stock Exchange has granted it, a waiver from strict compliance with the 

announcement requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules in respect of the continuing connected transactions with 史威特

服飾(惠州)有限公司 Sweater Garment (Huizhou) Company Limited* (“Sweater Garment (Huizhou)”) in relation to two tenancy 

agreements on the properties leased by the Company in Huizhou, the PRC. Further details of the said waiver are set out in the section 

below headed “Continuing Connected Transactions”.

The related party transactions in relation to the key management personnel remuneration as disclosed in note 28 to the audited 

consolidated financial statements are connected transactions exempt from the reporting, annual review, announcement, circular and 

independent shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors consider that those related party transactions disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated financial 

statements did not fall under the definition of “connected transactions” or “continuing connected transactions” (as the case may be) in 

Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules which are required to comply with any of the reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’ 

approval requirements under the GEM Listing Rules.

*  For identification purpose only
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Tenancy Agreements entered into between Sweater Garment Huizhou, STL Garment Accessories and 
STL Apparel Accessories

The relevant connected person with whom we entered into the continuing connected transactions is Sweater Garment (Huizhou), which 

is owned as to 100% by Sweater Garment (HK) Limited. Sweater Garment (HK) Limited is beneficially owned as to 60% by Mr. Lam Cheung 

Chuen the non-executive Director and controlling shareholder of the Company. Therefore, Sweater Garment (Huizhou) is a subsidiary of a 

majority-controlled company (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) of Mr. Lam Cheung Chuen and the connected person of the Group 

under Rule 20.07(4) of the GEM Listing Rules. Mr. Huang Yasan and Mr. Huang Qingzi, being the brother and cousin of the spouse of Mr. 

Lam Cheung Chuen, respectively, are also our connected persons. Each of them holds 20% of the issued share capital of Sweater Garment 

(HK) Limited, respectively.

On 1 March 2017, Sweater Garment (Huizhou) entered into a new tenancy agreements with 新天倫服裝配料(惠州)有限公司 (Sun Tin 

Lun Garment Accessories (Huizhou) Company Limited*) (“STL Garment Accessories”) and 新天倫服裝輔料(惠州)有限公司 STL Apparel 

Accessories (HZ) Co. Ltd (“STL Apparel Accessories”), respectively (collectively, the “Current Tenancy Agreements”), pursuant to which 

Sweater Garment (Huizhou) agreed to lease the following properties to the Group for a three-year term commencing on 1 January 2017 

and ending on 31 December 2019, details as follows:

Address Tenant Use of the property

Gross floor area
under the

Current Tenancy
Agreements

(sq.m.)
    

1st, 2nd, 3rd and portion of the 5th Floor, No. 6 Taihao Road, 

Sandong Digital Industrial Park, Sandong Town, 

Huizhou City, Guangdong Province, PRC (“Property 1”)

STL Garment Accessories Factory and office 18,557

Portion of the 5th Floor, No. 6 Taihao Road, 

Sandong Digital Industrial Park, Sandong Town, 

Huizhou City, Guangdong Province, PRC (“Property 2”)

STL Apparel Accessories Office 1,006

The expected aggregate maximum annual amount payable by STL Garment Accessories and STL Apparel Accessories pursuant to the 

Current Tenancy Agreements is set out below:

Annual Cap
Year ended/ending 31 December

2017 2018 2019
    

Rent payable in relation to Property 1 RMB2,586,372 RMB2,586,372 RMB2,586,372

Rent payable in relation to Property 2 RMB139,944 RMB139,944 RMB139,944

The Current Tenancy Agreements constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company under the GEM Listing Rules. Under the 

Current Tenancy Agreements, since each of the relevant percentage ratios calculated for the purpose of Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing 

Rules is less than 5%, the Current Tenancy Agreements are subject to the reporting, annual review and announcement requirements but 

exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval requirement under the GEM Listing Rules.

*  For identification purpose only
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The Group applied to the Stock Exchange for, and the Stock Exchange has granted it, a waiver from strict compliance with the 

announcement requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules in respect of the non-exempt continuing connected transactions 

under the Current Tenancy Agreement mentioned above subject to (a) the above non-exempt continuing connected transactions will be 

carried out in compliance with the connected transactions in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules; and (b) the aggregate 

value of each of these non-exempt continuing connected transactions for each of the financial years ended or ending 31 December 2017, 

2018 and 2019 will not exceed the relevant annual caps.

During the Year, the rental expenses paid under the Current Tenancy Agreement amounted to approximately RMB2.7 million (2016: 

approximately RMB2.7 million), which was within the annual cap for the Year.

Annual Review

Pursuant to Rule 20.53 of the GEM Listing Rules, the continuing connected transactions mentioned above have been reviewed by the 

INEDs who have confirmed that the transactions have been entered into (a) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (b) 

on normal commercial terms or better; and (c) according to the agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in 

the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Company’s auditor has been engaged by the Company according to Rule 20.54 of the GEM Listing Rules to report on the continuing 

connected transactions mentioned above. The auditor has issued a letter to the Board confirming, among other things, that nothing has 

come to their attention that causes them to believe that such transactions:

(a)	 have not been approved by the Board;

(b)	 were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreement governing the transactions; and

(c)	 have exceeded the cap.

A copy of this letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

To the best knowledge of the Directors and based on information that is publicly available to the Company, at least 25% of the Company’s 

issued share capital were held by the public as at the date of this report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year have been audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“DTT”). DTT shall retire in the 

forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the reappointment of DTT as auditor of the 

Company will be proposed at the 2018 AGM. The Company has not changed its external auditor during the year ended 31 December 

2017 and up to the date of this annual report.
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The audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 have been reviewed by the audit 

committee of the Board. The audit committee is of the opinion that the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the 

year ended 31 December 2017 comply with the applicable accounting standards, the GEM Listing Rules and that adequate disclosures 

have been made.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the corporate governance of the Company are set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 15 to 24 

of this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to 

offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were 

entered into or in existence during the Year.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the Year amounted to RMB20,000 (2016: RMB291,900).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Board is not aware of any significant event requiring disclosure that has been taken place 

subsequent to 31 December 2017 and up to the date of this annual report.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to ascertain entitlements to attend and vote at the 2018 AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from 

Monday, 30 April 2018 to Friday, 4 May 2018, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of the shares of the Company will be 

registered. Shareholder of the Company are reminded to ensure that all completed share transfer forms accompanied by the relevant 

share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 22, 

Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 27 April 2018.

On behalf of the Board

Reach New Holdings Limited

Lam Cheung Chuen

Chairman and Non-Executive Director

Hong Kong, 23 March 2018
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF REACH NEW HOLDINGS LIMITED

新達控股有限公司
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Reach New Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively 

referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 39 to 79, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 

2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and 

consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 

significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 

December 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and 

have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of 

our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), 

and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 

is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial 

statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a 

whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
  

Allowance for doubtful debts 

We identified the allowance for doubtful debts as a key audit 

matter due to the significance of the amount of trade receivables 

to the consolidated financial statements and the significant 

judgment and estimates involved by management in determining 

the allowance for doubtful debts.

As disclosed in notes 5 and 16 to the consolidated financial 

statements, in determining the allowance for doubtful debts, the 

Group takes into consideration the past collection history, age 

status and subsequent settlements of trade receivables. As at 

31  December 2017, the carrying amount of the Group’s trade 

receivables is approximately RMB19,837,000 (net of allowance for 

doubtful debts of approximately RMB545,000).

Our procedures in relation to the assessment of appropriateness 

of the allowance for doubtful debts included:

•	 Obtaining an understanding of how the allowance for 

doubtful debts is estimated by management;

•	 Assessing the reasonableness of allowance for doubtful 

debts with reference to the past collection history, age 

status and subsequent settlement information;

•	 Evaluating the historical accuracy of estimated impairment 

of trade receivables by comparing historical allowance 

made to the actual settlements and actual loss incurred;

•	 Obtaining the aging report of trade receivables and testing 

the accuracy of the aging report of trade receivables, on a 

sample basis, to source documents including sales invoices 

and delivery notes; and

•	 Testing settlements received in respect of the trade 

receivables subsequent to the year end, on a sample basis, 

against source documents including bank-in slips.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 

annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 

consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained 

in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 

material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in 

accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such 

internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going 

concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors 

either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in 

accordance with our agreed terms of engagement and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability 

to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 

conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 

error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 

decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the 

audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 

and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 

error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 

made by the directors.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence 

obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability 

to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 

report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 

opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 

conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (Continued)

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and 

whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 

presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the 

Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 

performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 

independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the 

audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in 

our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 

determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 

expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s report is Tsang Kai Tai.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

23 March 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2017

2017 2016

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
    

Revenue 6 102,807 105,199

Cost of sales (66,821) (65,575)
    

Gross profit 35,986 39,624

Other income, gains and losses 7 (263) 1,371

Distribution and selling expenses (4,529) (5,036)

Administrative expenses (23,192) (18,319)

Listing expenses (11,008) (2,294)
    

(Loss) profit before tax (3,006) 15,346

Income tax expense 8 (3,457) (5,715)
    

(Loss) profit for the year and total comprehensive (expense) income for the year 

  attributable to owners of the Company 9 (6,463) 9,631
    

(Loss) earnings per share, basic (RMB cents) 12 (0.94) 1.61
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

At 31 December 2017

2017 2016
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

    

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 13 19,932 20,982
Intangible asset 14 92 118

    

20,024 21,100
    

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories 15 4,113 3,187
Trade receivables 16 19,837 17,773
Prepayments and other receivables 16 1,305 2,011
Amount due from ultimate holding company 17 18 11
Bank balances and cash 19 44,638 23,308

    

69,911 46,290
    

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade payables 20 8,383 10,862
Other payables 20 5,349 4,060
Receipt in advance 978 566

Amounts due to directors 18 – 4,321
Tax payable 627 2,103

    

15,337 21,912
    

NET CURRENT ASSETS 54,574 24,378
    

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 74,598 45,478
    

NON-CURRENT LIABILITY
Deferred tax liability 21 55 1,000

    

NET ASSETS 74,543 44,478
    

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 22 6,890 –
Reserves 67,653 44,478

    

TOTAL EQUITY 74,543 44,478
    

The consolidated financial statements on pages 39 to 79 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 23 March 

2018 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Lam Cheung Chuen Mr. Lam Kai Yuen

DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

For the year ended 31 December 2017

Share

capital

Share

premium

Other

reserve

Accumulated

profits Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
      

At 1 January 2016 14,138 – 7 20,702 34,847

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year – – – 9,631 9,631

Transfer upon group reorganisation (note) (14,138) – 14,138 – –
      

At 31 December 2016 – – 14,145 30,333 44,478

Loss and total comprehensive expenses for the year – – – (6,463) (6,463)

Dividend paid (note 11) – – – (7,137) (7,137)

Issuance of shares (note 22) 6,890 44,785 – – 51,675

Transaction costs paid for issuance of shares 

  (note 30) – (8,010) – – (8,010)
      

At 31 December 2017 6,890 36,775 14,145 16,733 74,543
      

Note:	 As part of the group reorganisation, there are series of restructuring within Reach New Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively 
referred to as “the Group”) mainly involved interspersing investment holding entities between the operating subsidiaries and investment holding companies. 
The difference between the Company’s share capital and the combined paid-in capital of 新天倫服裝配料（惠州）有限公司 (‘’STL Garment Accessories”) and 
新天倫服裝輔料（惠州）有限公司 (‘’STL Apparel Accessories”), the indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company established in the People’s Republic 
of China (the “PRC”), was credited to other reserve on 30 November 2016.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2017

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

(Loss) profit before tax (3,006) 15,346

Adjustments for:

  Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4,326 5,060

  Amortisation of an intangible asset 26 27

  Allowance for doubtful debts 327 141

  Allowance for inventories – 8

  Bank interest income (41) (34)

  Gain on disposal of properties, plant and equipment – (996)

  Fair value gain from wealth management products designated at 

    fair value through profit or loss – (247)

  Exchange loss, net 914 –
   

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 2,546 19,305

Increase in inventories (926) (938)

Increase in trade receivables (2,391) (3,965)

Decrease (increase) in prepayments and other receivables 706 (1,600)

(Decrease) increase in trade payables (2,479) 3,650

Increase (decrease) in other payables 1,289 (679)

Increase (decrease) in receipt in advance 412 (121)

Decrease in trade payables to related parties – (2,221)
   

Cash (used in) generated from operations (843) 13,431

Income tax paid (5,878) (4,685)
   

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (6,721) 8,746
   

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (3,276) (5,136)

Advance to ultimate holding company (7) (11)

Bank interest received 41 34

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 4,591

Proceeds on disposal of wealth management products designated

  at fair value through profit or loss – 6,247

Repayment from a third party – 2,030

Repayment from a related party – 2,000
   

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (3,242) 9,755
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2017

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Advance from directors 1,339 5,659

Repayment to directors (5,660) (1,338)

Repayment to related parties – (12,775)

Dividend paid (7,137) –

Proceeds from issuance of shares 51,675 –

Transaction costs paid for issuance of shares (8,010) –
   

NET CASH FROM (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES 32,207 (8,454)
   

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 22,244 10,047

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 23,308 13,261

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (914) –
   

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR, 

  represented by bank balances and cash 44,638 23,308
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2017

1.	 GENERAL

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company and registered in the 

Cayman Islands with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman 

Islands on 22 January 2016 and its shares are listed on the GEM Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock 

Exchange”) in July 2017. Its registered office is located at PO Box 1350, Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, Grand Cayman, KY1-1108, 

Cayman Islands. The address of its principal place of business is located at Sun Tin Lun Industrial Centre, No. 6 Taihao Road, Sandong 

Digital Industrial Park, Sandong Town, Huizhou City, Guangdong Province, China. Its parent company is Neo Concept Holdings 

Limited, a private company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”). Its ultimate controlling party is Mr. Lam Cheung 

Chuen (“Mr. Lam”), who is the chairman and also a non-executive director of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are principally engaged in provision of 

labelling solution and production and supply of garment accessories in the PRC.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is also the functional currency of the Company.

2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION

Pursuant to a reorganisation of the Company and its subsidiaries now comprising the Group completed on 30 November 2016 to 

rationalise the Group’s structure in preparation for the listing on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “Reorganisation”), the Company 

became the holding company of the Group.

Details of the Reorganisation are set out in the section headed “HISTORY, DEVELOPMENT AND REORGANISATION” of the prospectus 

of the Company dated 30 June 2017 (the “Prospectus”). The Company and its subsidiaries have been under the common control of 

Mr. Lam before 30 November 2016 or since their respective dates of incorporation or establishment, where there is a shorter period.

The Group resulting from the Reorganisation is regarded as a continuing entity. Accordingly, the consolidated statements of profit 

or loss and other comprehensive income and cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2016 included the results and cash flows 

of the companies now comprising the Group which have been prepared by applying the principles of merger accounting, which is 

consistent with the principle as stated in the Accounting Guideline 5 “Merger accounting for common control combinations” issued 

by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), as if the group structure upon the completion of the group 

restructuring had been in existence throughout the year ended 31 December 2016 or since their respective dates of incorporation 

or establishment where it is a shorter period.

For the purpose of preparing and presenting the consolidated financial statements for the year, the Group has consistently applied 

all HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”), amendments and interpretations (“HK(IFRIC)-Int”) issued by the HKICPA 

which are effective for the accounting periods beginning on 1 January 2017 consistently throughout the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2017

3.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(“HKFRSs”)
Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time in the current year:

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative
Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses
Amendments to HKFRS 12 As part of the Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014–2016 Cycle

Except for mentioned below, the application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the 
Group’s financial performance and positions for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated 
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

The Group has applied these amendments for the first time in the current year. The amendments require an entity to provide 
disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both 
cash and non-cash changes. In addition, the amendments also require disclosures on changes in financial assets if cash flows from 
those financial assets were, or future cash flows will be, included in cash flows from financing activities.

Specifically, the amendments require the following to be disclosed: (i) changes from financing cash flows; (ii) changes arising from 
obtaining or losing control of subsidiaries or other businesses; (iii) the effect of changes in foreign exchange rates; (iv) changes in 
fair value; and (v) other changes.

A reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of these items is provided in note 25. Consistent with the transition 
provisions of the amendments, the Group has not disclosed comparative information for the prior year. Apart from the addition 
disclosure in note 25, the application of these amendments has had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments1

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and the related Amendments1

HKFRS 16 Leases2

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts4

HK(IFRIC)–Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration1

HK(IFRIC)–Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments2

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions1

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts1

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation2

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture3

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures2

Amendments to HKAS 28 As part of the Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014–2016 Cycle1

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property1

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015–2017 Cycle2

1	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
2	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
3	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
4	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2017

3.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets, financial liabilities, general hedge 

accounting and impairment requirements for financial assets.

One of the key requirements of HKFRS 9 that are applicable to the Group includes the impairment of financial assets, of which 

HKFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed to an incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39. The expected credit 

loss model requires an entity to account for expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses at each reporting 

date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have 

occurred before credit losses are recognised.

Based on the Group’s financial instruments and risk management policies at 31 December 2017, the directors of the Company are 

of the view that the application of the expected credit loss model of HKFRS 9 may result in early recognition of credit losses on the 

Group’s financial assets measured at amortised cost taking into account the estimated credit risk of the customers the Group has 

business with and the actual allowance for doubtful debts experienced.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the adoption of HKFRS 9 in the future may not have a significant impact on the 

amounts reported in respect of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from 

contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition guidance including HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 

Construction Contracts and the related interpretations when it becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to 

customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or 

services. Specifically, the standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

•	 Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

•	 Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

•	 Step 3: Determine the transaction price

•	 Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

•	 Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’ of the goods or 

services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive guidance has been 

added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 15.

In 2016, the HKICPA issued clarifications to HKFRS 15 in relation to the identification of performance obligations, principal versus 

agent considerations, as well as licensing application guidance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2017

3.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Continued)

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of HKFRS 15 in the future may result in more disclosures, however, the 

directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of HKFRS 15 will have a material impact on the timing and amounts 

of revenue recognised in the respective reporting periods.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and accounting treatments for both 

lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a customer. 

Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model where a right-of-

use asset and a corresponding liability have to be recognised for all leases by lessees, except for short-term leases and leases of low 

value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions) less 

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease liability is initially 

measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for 

interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst others. For the classification of cash flows, the 

Group currently presents operating lease payments as operating cash flows. Upon application of HKFRS 16, lease payments in 

relation to lease liability will be allocated into a principal and an interest portion which will be presented as financing cash flows.

In contrast to lessee accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS 17, and 

continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group has non-cancellable operating lease commitments of approximately RMB4,265,000 as disclosed 

in note 26. A preliminary assessment indicates that these arrangements will meet the definition of a lease. Upon application of 

HKFRS 16, the Group will recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability in respect of all these leases unless they qualify 

for low value or short-term leases.

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental deposits paid of RMB10,000 as rights under leases to which HKAS 17 

applies. Based on the definition of lease payments under HKFRS 16, such deposits are not payments relating to the right to use the 

underlying assets, accordingly, the carrying amounts of such deposits may be adjusted to amortised cost and such adjustments are 

considered as additional lease payments. Adjustments to refundable rental deposits paid would be included in the carrying amount 

of right-of-use assets.

Furthermore, the application of new requirements may result in changes in measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated 

above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2017

4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the 

consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the 

GEM of the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis at the end of each reporting period, as 

explained in the accounting policies set out set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 

participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation 

technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or 

liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement 

date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a 

basis, except for leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to 

fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to 

which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in 

its entirety, which are described as follows:

•	 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the 

measurement date;

•	 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either 

directly or indirectly; and

•	 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company 

and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

•	 has power over the investee;

•	 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

•	 has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or 

more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control 

of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the 

consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date 

when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with 

the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are 

eliminated in full on consolidation.

Merger accounting for business combination involving businesses under common control

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements items of the combining businesses in which the 

common control combination occurs as if they had been combined from the date when the combining businesses first came under 

the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining businesses are consolidated using the existing book values from the controlling party’s perspective. 

No amount is recognised in respect of goodwill or excess of acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of acquiree’s identifiable assets, 

liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost at the time of common control combination, to the extent of the continuation of the 

controlling party’s interest.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income includes the results of each of the combining 

businesses from the earliest date presented or since the date when the combining businesses first came under the common 

control, where this is a shorter period.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated customer 

returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic benefits 

will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described below.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered and titles have passed.

Interest income is accrued on a time apportionment basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest 

rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial 

asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the 

lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring land held under operating leases, are recognised as an expense on a 

straight-line basis over the lease term.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. The 

aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis.

Leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for a property interest which includes both leasehold land and building elements, the Group 

assesses the classification of each element separately based on the assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and rewards 

incidental to ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that both elements are operating 

leases in which case the entire property is accounted as an operating lease. Specifically, the entire consideration (including any 

lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated between the leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the relative fair 

values of the leasehold interests in the land element and building element at initial recognition.

When the payments cannot be allocated reliably between the leasehold land and building elements, the entire property is generally 

classified as if the leasehold land is under finance lease.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency 

of that entity (foreign currency) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of 

the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in 

profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the defined contribution retirement benefit plans including state-managed retirement benefit schemes in the PRC and 

Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme in Hong Kong are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling 

them to the contributions.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from ‘(loss) profit before tax’ as reported in the 

consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because of income or expense that are taxable or 

deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax 

rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated 

financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally 

recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary 

differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary 

differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the 

initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable 

profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the 

initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except where 

the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse 

in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments are 

only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of 

the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no 

longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is 

settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 

reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which 

the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in other 

comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive 

income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business 

combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statements of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated 

depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the 

straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting 

period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to 

arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and 

equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in 

profit or loss.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any 

accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over 

their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, 

with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.
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Impairment on tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether there is any 

indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant 

asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of 

the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, 

corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-

generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future 

cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 

value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not 

been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 

amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the 

impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-

rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest 

of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss 

that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An impairment loss is 

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the 

revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 

would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A 

reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted average 

method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs 

necessary to make the sale.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 

instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or 

financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Financial assets are classified into loans and receivables. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets 

and is determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and 

derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of 

assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest income 

over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all 

fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or 

discounts) through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on 

initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 

market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including trade receivables, other receivables, amount due from 

ultimate holding company and bank balances and cash) are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less 

any impairment.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables where the recognition of 

interest would be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be 

impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the 

financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been affected.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

•	 significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

•	 breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

•	 it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, 

an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period ranged from 30 to 90 days, 

observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s 

carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective 

interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of 

trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount 

of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against 

the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the 

decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised 

impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the 

impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the 

substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. 

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense 

over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all 

fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or 

discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on 

initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade payables, other payables, receipt in advance and amounts due to directors are subsequently 

measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it 

transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group 

neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the 

Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial 

asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received 

and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 

equity is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. 

The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is 

recognised in profit or loss.

5.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies which are described in note 4, the directors of the Company are required to 
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from 
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered 
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in 
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods 
if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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5.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 
(Continued)

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the Company have 

made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts 

recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Net realisable value of inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for 

inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. The cost of inventories is written down to 

net realisable value when there is an objective evidence that the cost of inventories may not be recoverable. The amount written off 

to the profit or loss is the difference between the carrying value and net realisable value of the inventories. In determining whether 

the cost of inventories can be recovered, significant judgements are required. In making this judgement, the Group evaluates, 

among other factors, the duration and extent and the means by which the amount will be recovered. These estimates are based on 

the current market conditions and the historical experience of selling products of a similar nature. It could change significantly as a 

result of changes in customer preference and competitor actions in response to market conditions. As at 31 December 2017, the 

carrying amount of inventories is approximately RMB4,113,000, net of write-down of inventory of approximately RMB60,000 (2016: 

carrying amount of approximately RMB3,187,000, net of write-down of inventory of approximately RMB109,000).

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 

reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within the next 

financial year.

Useful lives and impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less accumulated depreciation 

and identified impairment losses. The estimation of their useful lives impacts the level of annual depreciation expenses recorded. 

Property, plant and equipment are evaluated for possible impairment on an individual asset basis or in groups of similar assets, as 

applicable. This process requires management’s estimate of futures cash flows generated by each asset or group of assets. For any 

instance where this evaluation process indicates impairment, the appropriate asset’s carrying amounts are written down to the 

recoverable amount and the amount of the write-down is charged to profit or loss. As at 31 December 2017, the carrying amount of 

property, plant and equipment of the Group was approximately RMB19,932,000 (without accumulated impairment loss) (2016: 

approximately RMB20,892,000 (without accumulated impairment loss)).

Allowance for doubtful debts

The Group makes allowance for doubtful debts based on an assessment of the recoverability of trade receivables. Allowance is 

applied to trade receivables where events or changes in circumstances indicate that the balance may not be collectible. The 

identification of doubtful receivables requires the management’s judgement and estimation of future cash flows. The Group takes 

into consideration the past collection history, age status and subsequent settlement. Where the actual outcome or expectation of 

the recoverability of trade receivables is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying value of trade 

receivables and allowance for doubtful debts in the period in which such estimate has changed. The carrying amount of trade 

receivables as at 31 December 2017 is approximately RMB19,837,000, net of allowance of doubtful debts of approximately 

RMB545,000 (2016: carrying amount of approximately RMB17,773,000, net of allowance for doubtful debts of approximately 

RMB218,000). Details are set out in note 16.
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6.	 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Sales of printing products 47,461 51,400

Sales of woven labels 26,190 28,395

Sales of printed labels 23,847 19,741

Others 5,309 5,663
   

102,807 105,199
   

Information reported to the Chief Executive Officer of the Group, being the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) regularly 

review revenue analysis by major products as set out in the revenue analysis above for the purpose of resource allocation and 

assessment of performance. However, other than revenue analysis, no operating results and other discrete consolidated financial 

statements is regularly reviewed by the CODM for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of performance of respective 

businesses which generate different types of revenue. The CODM review the operating results of the Group as a whole to make 

decisions about resource allocation and for performance assessment. The operation of the Group constitutes one single operating 

and reportable segment under HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” and accordingly no separate segment information is presented.

Geographical information

Revenue by geographical location

The Group’s operations are located in the PRC. All of the Group’s non-current assets and capital expenditure are located or utilised 

in the PRC.

Information about major customers

Revenue from a customer that individually contributing over 10% of the total sales are as follows:

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Customer A 18,007 15,207
   

7.	 OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Bank interest income 41 34

Government subsidies 1 1

Gain on disposal of properties, plant and equipment – 996

Fair value gain from wealth management products – 247

Exchange loss, net (466) –

Others 161 93
   

(263) 1,371
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8.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Current tax:

  Provision for the year 3,550 4,788

  Overprovision in prior years (93) (73)
   

3,457 4,715
   

Withholding tax 945 –
   

Deferred tax (note 21) — current year (945) 1,000
   

3,457 5,715
   

The Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI pursuant to the rules and regulations in those 

jurisdictions.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group had no assessable profits derived from or earned in Hong Kong 

for the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: nil).

The Group is subject to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax (the “PRC EIT”) at a rate of 25% (2016: 25%) and dividend withholding tax at 

a rate of 5% (2016: 10%) for the year ended 31 December 2017.

Current tax provision represents provision for the PRC EIT.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the (loss) profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss 

and other comprehensive income as follows:

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

(Loss) profit before tax (3,006) 15,346
   

Tax at the PRC EIT rate of 25% (2016: 25%) (752) 3,837

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose (10) (8)

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose 4,257 959

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 55 –

Deferred withholding tax on distributable profits of a subsidiary – 1,000

Overprovision in prior years (93) (73)
   

Tax expense for the year 3,457 5,715
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9.	 (LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

(Loss) profit for the year has been arrived at after charging:

Directors’ remuneration (note 10) 2,588 584

Other staff costs

  — salaries and wages 22,155 26,051

  — retirement benefits scheme contribution excluding directors 2,701 3,178
   

Total directors and other staff costs 27,444 29,813
   

Allowance for doubtful debts 327 141

Auditor’s remuneration 985 277

Cost of inventories recognised as cost of sales 35,984 33,226

Depreciation 4,326 5,060

Amortisation of an intangible asset (included in administrative expenses) 26 27

Minimum lease payments under operating leases 2,786 2,762

Allowance for inventories – 8
   

10.	 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

Details of the emoluments paid or payable to directors and chief executives are as follows:

Fee

Salaries,

allowance

and benefits

in kind

Retirement

benefits

scheme

contribution Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
     

2017

Executive directors

Mr. Lam Kai Yuen (“Mr. Gabi Lam”) – 854 16 870

Mr. Lam Kai Cheong (“Mr. Jeffrey Lam”) – 720 13 733
     

– 1,574 29 1,603
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10.	 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION 
(Continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in connection with the management of the affairs of the 

Company and the Group.

Fee

Salaries,

allowance

and benefits

in kind

Retirement

benefits

scheme

contribution Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
     

Non-executive director

Mr. Lam – 737 14 751
     

The non-executive director’s emoluments shown above were for his service as director of the Company or its subsidiaries.

Fee

Salaries,

allowance

and benefits

in kind

Retirement

benefits

scheme

contribution Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
     

Independent Non-executive directors

Mr. Ho Yuk Hay (appointed on 24 June 2017) 78 – – 78

Mr. May Yee Wo, Matthew (appointed on 24 June 2017) 78 – – 78

Mrs. So Chan Wai Hang (appointed on 24 June 2017) 78 – – 78
     

234 – – 234
     

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as directors of the Company.

Fee

Salaries,

allowance

and benefits

in kind

Retirement

benefits

scheme

contribution Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
     

2016

Executive directors

Mr. Gabi Lam – 304 8 312

Mr. Jeffrey Lam – 120 6 126
     

– 424 14 438
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10.	 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION 
(Continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in connection with the management of the affairs of the 

Company and the Group.

Fee

Salaries,

allowance

and benefits

in kind

Retirement

benefits

scheme

contribution Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
     

Non-executive director

Mr. Lam – 140 6 146
     

The non-executive director’s emoluments shown above were for his service as director of the Company or its subsidiaries.

Executive directors and non-executive director of the Group are entitled to bonus payments of approximately RMB390,000 during 

the year ended 31 December 2017.

No executive directors of the Group is entitled to bonus payments during the year ended 31 December 2016.

In addition to above, the Group provided its property as accommodation to Mr. Jeffrey Lam at rent-free from January 2015 to 

September 2016. This property was disposed to Mr. Jeffrey Lam in September 2016 and details are set out in note 13.

Employees’ remuneration

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year included three directors (2016: two directors), details of whose 

remuneration are set out above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining two (2016: three) highest paid employees 

who are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

Year ended 31 December

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Salaries and allowances 1,417 613

Retirement benefits scheme contribution 31 16
   

1,448 629
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10.	 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION 
(Continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Continued)

Employees’ remuneration (Continued)

Their emoluments were fell within the following bands:

2017 2016
Number of
employees

Number of
employees

   

Nil to HK$1,000,000 (Equivalent to Nil to RMB800,000) 2 3
   

During the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of the Company or 
any of the five highest paid individuals (including directors and employees) as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or 
as compensation for loss of office. No director has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the years ended 31 December 
2017 and 2016.

11.	 DIVIDEND
During the year ended 31 December 2017, special dividends in respect of the year ended 31 December 2016 of approximately 
RMB70,880 (2016: nil) per ordinary share, in aggregate of approximately RMB7,137,000 (2016: nil) were declared and approved by 
the directors.

No dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2017 were declared and approved by the directors.

12.	 (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic (loss) earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following data:

2017 2016
RMB’000 RMB’000

   

(Loss) earnings:
  (Loss) earnings for the year attributable to owners of the Company for the purpose of
    calculating basic (loss) earnings per share (6,463) 9,631

   

2017 2016
’000 ’000

   

Number of shares:
  Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of 
    calculating basic (loss) earnings per share 689,315 600,000

   

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of calculating basic loss per share for the year ended 31 
December 2017 has been taken into account the assumption that the capitalisation issue had been effective on 1 January 2016 and 
the issuance of shares upon initial public offering as described more fully in note 22.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of calculating basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 
December 2016 has been taken into account the assumption that the capitalisation issue had been effective on 1 January 2016 as 
described more fully in note 22.

No diluted earnings per share is presented for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 as there were no potential ordinary 
share in issue.
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13.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold
land and
building

Leasehold
improvements Machinery

Motor
vehicles

Office
equipment

Furnitures
and

fixtures Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

        

COST

At 1 January 2016 3,247 12,277 28,219 1,713 4,750 982 51,188

Additions – – 7,216 – 215 – 7,431

Disposal (3,247) – (2,428) (105) (44) (15) (5,839)
        

At 31 December 2016 – 12,277 33,007 1,608 4,921 967 52,780

Additions – – 3,130 – 67 79 3,276
        

At 31 December 2017 – 12,277 36,137 1,608 4,988 1,046 56,056
        

ACCUMULATED
  DEPRECIATION

At 1 January 2016 499 3,393 20,726 834 2,901 629 28,982

Provided for the year 110 1,228 2,505 181 864 172 5,060

Eliminated on disposal (609) – (1,487) (95) (40) (13) (2,244)
        

At 31 December 2016 – 4,621 21,744 920 3,725 788 31,798

Provided for the year – 1,228 2,407 163 452 76 4,326
        

At 31 December 2017 – 5,849 24,151 1,083 4,177 864 36,124
        

CARRYING VALUES

At 31 December 2017 – 6,428 11,986 525 811 182 19,932
        

At 31 December 2016 – 7,656 11,263 688 1,196 179 20,982
        

The leasehold land and building represented a residential apartment located in the PRC and acted as a director’s quarters to Mr. 

Jeffrey Lam. The leasehold land is held for medium term. During the year of 2016, the building has been disposed to Mr. Jeffrey Lam 

at consideration of RMB3,519,000, which is determined by the valuation report carried out by 惠州可道資產評估有限公司, situated 

in 廣東省惠州市江北東江二路二號富力麗港中心酒店4層16號, an independent PRC qualified professional valuer governed by 

China Appraised Society which is not connected with the Group.
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13.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold land and building 5%

Leasehold improvements 10%

Machinery 10%–50%

Motor vehicles 20%

Office equipment 20%

Furnitures and fixtures 20%

14.	 INTANGIBLE ASSET

RMB’000
  

COST

At 1 January 2016, 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2017 288
  

AMORTISATION

At 1 January 2016 143

Provided for the year 27
  

At 31 December 2016 170

Provided for the year 26
  

At 31 December 2017 196
  

CARRYING VALUES

At 31 December 2017 92
  

At 31 December 2016 118
  

The intangible asset represents a computer software acquired from an independent third party, which has finite useful lives of 10 

years and is amortised on a straight-line basis.
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15.	 INVENTORIES

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Raw materials 3,294 2,352

Work in progress 524 343

Finished goods 295 492
   

4,113 3,187
   

16.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Trade receivables 20,382 17,991

Less: allowance for doubtful debts (545) (218)
   

19,837 17,773
   

Other receivables 634 194

Prepayments 671 1,025

Deferred listing expense – 792
   

1,305 2,011
   

The Group allows credit periods ranging from 30 to 90 days to its trade customers. Before accepting any new customer, the Group 

makes enquiries to assess the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attributed 

to customer are reviewed annually. The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables net of allowance for doubtful debts 

presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Within 90 days 17,466 16,181

91–180 days 746 908

181–360 days 1,117 684

Over 360 days 508 –
   

19,837 17,773
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16.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Included in the Group’s trade receivables balance are debtors with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately RMB3,975,000 

(2016: approximately RMB3,061,000) respectively which are past due as at the end of reporting period for which the Group has not 

provided for impairment loss as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and amounts are still considered 

recoverable based on historical experience. The Group does not hold any collaterals over these balances.

Aging of trade receivables which are past due based on invoice date but not impaired:

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Overdue:

  Within 90 days 2,112 2,223

  91–180 days 766 154

  181–360 days 589 684

  Over 360 days 508 –
   

3,975 3,061
   

Except for the trade receivables aged over 360 days of approximately RMB508,000 (2016: nil) which have been subsequently settled 

over 90% after the end of the reporting period, the Group has provided fully for all receivables over 360 days because historical 

experience is such that receivables that are past due beyond 360 days are generally not recoverable.

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Balance at beginning of the year 218 77

Impairment losses recognised on trade receivables 327 141
   

Balance at end of the year 545 218
   

17.	 AMOUNT DUE FROM ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

The amount is unsecured, non-trade nature, interest-free and recoverable on demand. The maximum outstanding during the year 

ended 31 December 2017 is approximately RMB18,000 (2016: approximately RMB11,000).
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18.	 AMOUNTS DUE TO DIRECTORS

The amounts represent the advances from Mr. Lam and Mr. Gabi Lam, directors of the Company. The amounts are unsecured, non-

trade nature, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The amounts have been settled during the current year.

19.	 BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances carry interest at prevailing market rates at 0.35% (2016: 0.35%) per annum as at 31 December 2017.

20.	 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Trade payables 8,383 10,862
   

Other payables 3,213 2,252

Other accrued expenses 2,136 1,808
   

5,349 4,060
   

The credit period on trade payables ranging from 30 to 90 days. The aging analysis of the Group’s trade payables below is presented 

based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Within 90 days 8,001 7,509

91–180 days 259 2,342

181–360 days 26 652

Over 1 year 97 359
   

8,383 10,862
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21.	 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY

The following is the deferred tax liability recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior years:

Withholding

tax on

distributable

profits

RMB’000
  

At 1 January 2016 –

Charge to profit or loss (note 8) 1,000
  

At 31 December 2016 1,000

Credit to profit or loss (note 8) (945)
  

At 31 December 2017 55
  

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax, withholding tax ranged from 5% to 10% is proposed on dividends declared in 

respect of profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards.

As at 31 December 2016, deferred tax liability amounting to RMB1,000,000 has been provided for in respect of temporary differences 

attributable to profit of a PRC subsidiary of RMB18,500,000, as the Group expected such amount would be distributed by the PRC 

subsidiary to a non-PRC tax resident subsidiary in 2017.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, a profit of RMB18,900,000 has been distributed by the PRC subsidiary to a non-PRC tax 

resident subsidiary. 5% of withholding tax has been imposed by the PRC government to the Group and accordingly, RMB945,000 

withholding tax has been paid in relation to the profit distributed by the PRC subsidiary.

Deferred tax has not been provided for temporary differences attributable to the remaining accumulated undistributed profits of 

two PRC subsidiaries amounting to an aggregate amount of approximately RMB27,619,000 (2016: approximately RMB35,202,000) as 

the directors of the Group do not expect to declare any additional dividends apart from RMB18,900,000 as mentioned above and 

the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary differences 

will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group has unused tax losses of approximately RMB220,000 (2016: nil), available for offset against future 

profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. 

The tax losses will be expired in 2022.
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22.	 SHARE CAPITAL

Number

of shares HK$
   

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

Authorised:

At 22 January 2016 (date of incorporation) and 31 December 2016 38,000,000 380,000

Increased in authorised share capital on 24 June 2017 1,962,000,000 19,620,000
   

At 31 December 2017 2,000,000,000 20,000,000
   

Issued and fully paid:

At 22 January 2016 (date of incorporation) and 31 December 2016 100 1

Capitalisation issue (note a) 599,999,900 5,999,999

Issuance of shares (note b) 200,000,000 2,000,000
   

At 31 December 2017 800,000,000 8,000,000
   

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Shown in the consolidated financial statements as 6,890 –
   

Notes:

(a)	 On 21 July 2017, pursuant to the written resolution of the sole shareholder passed on 24 June 2017, the issue of 599,999,900 new shares was made 
upon capitalisation of the amount of HK$5,999,999 standing to the credit of the share premium account of the Company.

(b)	 On 21 July 2017, the Company issued 200,000,000 new shares at HK$0.3 per share for a total gross proceeds of approximately HK$60,000,000 by way of 
initial public offering of the Company on the Stock Exchange. The proceeds of HK$8,000,000, equivalent to RMB6,890,000, representing the par value of 
the shares of the Company, were credited to the Company’s share capital. The remaining proceeds of HK$52,000,000, equivalent to RMB44,785,000, 
before issuing expenses, were credited to share premium account of the Company.

23.	 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising 

the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains 

unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt net of cash and cash equivalents and equity.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure from time to time. As a part of this review, the management considers 

the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the management, the Group 

will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, the issue of new shares, new debts or the redemption of 

existing debts.
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24.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a.	 Categories of financial instruments

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Financial assets

Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents) 65,127 41,286
   

Financial liabilities

Amortised cost 12,574 18,001
   

b.	 Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade receivables, other receivables, amount due from ultimate holding 

company, amounts due to directors, bank balances and cash, trade payables, other payables and receipt in advance. Details of 

these financial instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments include 

market risks (interest rate risk and foreign currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these 

risks are set out below. The management of the Group manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate 

measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risks

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. 

Details of each type of market risks are described as follows:

(i)	 Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank balances. The Group’s treasury 

policy is in place to monitor and manage its exposure to fluctuation in interest rates.

The directors of the Company consider that the overall interest rate risk is not significant as all the bank deposits are 

short term. Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is prepared.

(ii)	 Foreign currency risk

The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency risk as some of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are 

denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of the Group entities, including Hong Kong dollars 

(“HK$”). The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency 

transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group monitors its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging 

significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

At 31 December 2017, if RMB had strengthened 5 per cent against HK$ with all other variables held constant, 

consolidated loss after tax would have been approximately RMB904,000 higher (2016: consolidated profit after tax 

would have been approximately RMB166,000 higher), arising mainly as a result of the foreign exchange loss on bank 

balances (2016: foreign exchange gain on amounts due to directors) denominated in HK$.
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24.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitor and maintain a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed 

adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The 

management monitors the utilisation of amounts due to related parties and subsidiaries.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up 

based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to 

pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are variable rate, the 

undiscounted amount is derived from weighted average interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

Weighted

average

effective

interest rate

Repayment

on demand

or less than

3 months

Total

undiscounted

cash flows

Carrying

amount

% RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
     

2017

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Trade and other payables – 11,596 11,596 11,596

Receipt in advance – 978 978 978
     

12,574 12,574 12,574
     

2016

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Trade and other payables – 13,114 13,114 13,114

Amounts due to directors – 4,321 4,321 4,321

Receipt in advance – 566 566 566
     

18,001 18,001 18,001
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24.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligation at the end 

of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets as stated 

in the consolidated statement of financial position. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables and 

bank balances.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of 

credit limits and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue receivables. In 

addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual material trade and other receivable at the end of the 

reporting period to ensure that adequate allowance are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the management of 

the Group considers that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by 

international credit-rating agencies.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as the top five trade debtors accounted for approximately 42% of its total trade 

debts balance as at 31 December 2017 (2016: 37%). In view of this, the management of the Group regularly visits these 

customers to understand their business operations and cash flow positions. In this regard, management of the Group 

considers that the credit concentration risk has been significantly mitigated.

c.	 Fair value measurements of financial instruments

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of other financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at 

amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.
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25.	 RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash 

changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the 

Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

Dividend

payable

Accrued

issued costs

Amounts

due to

directors Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(note 18)
     

At 1 January 2017 – 8,010 4,321 12,331

Financing cash flows (note) (7,137) (8,010) (4,321) (19,468)

Dividend declared 7,137 – – 7,137
     

At 31 December 2017 – – – –
     

Note:	 The cash flows from dividend payable, accrued issued costs paid for issuance of shares and advance from directors and repayment to directors make 
up the net amount of proceeds and repayments in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

26.	 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

As lessee

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Minimum lease payments under operating leases during the year in 

  respect of premises owed by

  — related parties 2,726 2,727

  — independent third party 60 35
   

2,786 2,762
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26.	 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS (Continued)

As lessee (Continued)

At the end of 2017, the Group had commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases in 

respect of premises for factory and office which fall due as follows:

2017
 

Premises

owned by

related

party

Premises

owned by

independent

third party Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
    

Within one year 2,726 30 2,756

In the second to fifth year inclusive 1,509 – 1,509
    

4,235 30 4,265
    

At the end of 2016, the Group had commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases in 

respect of premises for factory and office which fall due as follows:

2016
 

Premises

owned by

related

parties

Premises

owned by

independent

third party Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
    

Within one year 2,726 60 2,786

In the second to fifth year inclusive 4,235 30 4,265
    

6,961 90 7,051
    

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable to related parties and independent third party by the Group for certain of its 

premises. Leases are negotiated for terms ranging from two to three years and rentals are fixed over the terms of the leases.
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27.	 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Hong Kong

The Group participated in Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) for all its qualifying employees from year 2016. The 

assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of an independent trustee. 

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the retirement benefits scheme contribution arising from the MPF Scheme charged to 

profit or loss was approximately RMB74,000 (2016: approximately RMB54,000).

The PRC

In accordance with the relevant rules and regulations of the PRC, the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are required to make contributions to 

the retirement fund administered by the PRC government at 13% of the total monthly basic salaries of the current employees.

In addition, the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are required by law to contribute 13.5% to 21.5% of basic salaries of the employees for 

social insurance in relating to staff welfare, medical, work injury and unemployment.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the costs charged under such arrangements for the Group’s PRC subsidiaries amounted 

to approximately RMB2,670,000 (2016: approximately RMB3,144,000).

28.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Apart from details of the balances with related parties disclosed in the consolidated financial statements, the Group also entered 

into the following transactions with related parties during the year ended 31 December 2017:

Name of related 

company/party Notes Nature of transactions 2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
     

史威特服飾（惠州）有限公司 (i) Rental paid 2,726 2,692

Mr. Gabi Lam (ii) Rental paid – 30

Miss Lam Man Yee (iii) Rental paid – 5

多悅織造（惠州）有限公司 (“DY Weaving”) (iv) Sales – 20

多悅服飾（惠州）有限公司 (“DY Apparel”) (iv) Sales – 7

蘇州多悅服飾有限公司 (v) Purchase of property, 

  plant and equipment

– 2,295

DY Apparel (iv) Purchase of property, 

  plant and equipment

– 1,613

DY Weaving (iv) Purchase of property, 

  plant and equipment

– 2,740
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28.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Notes:

(i)	 Mr. Lam, has beneficial interest in this company.

(ii)	 Mr. Gabi Lam is a director of the Company.

(iii)	 Ms. Lam Man Yee is a close family member of the directors of the Company.

(iv)	 Mr. Lam, had beneficial interests in these companies up to 26 May 2016.

(v)	 Mr. Lam, had beneficial interest in this company up to 22 February 2016.

The Group provided its property as director quarters to Mr. Jeffrey Lam from January 2015 to September 2016 as set out in note 13.

On 21 September 2016, this property has been disposed to Mr. Jeffrey Lam at consideration of RMB3,519,000, which is determined 

by the valuation report carried out by 惠州可道資產評估有限公司, situated in 廣東省惠州市江北東江二路二號富力麗港中心酒

店4層16號, an independent qualified professional valuer governed by China Appraisal Society not connected with the Group.

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of key management personnel during the year was approximately RMB3,986,000 (2016: approximately 

RMB1,213,000) which is determined by reference to the performance of individuals and market trends.

No short-term employee benefits, post-employment benefits, other long term benefits and termination benefits are paid or payable 

to the key management personnel.

Balances with related companies are disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position and notes 17 and 18.
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29.	 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company has direct and indirect equity interests in the following subsidiaries:

Name of

subsidiaries

Date of

incorporation/

establishment

Place of

incorporation/

establishment Legal form

Issued and

fully paid-up

share capital/

registered 

capital

Equity interests

attributable to the

Company as at Principal activities

At 31 December

2017 2016
        

Direct

New Forest 

  Company Limited

1 December 2015 BVI Private enterprise with 

  limited liability

US$1

(2016: US$1)

100% 100% Investment holding

Indirect

Smart Trend Enterprise 

  Company Limited

15 April 2016 Hong Kong Private enterprise with 

  limited liability

HK$1

(2016: HK$1)

100% 100% Investment holding

STL Apparel Accessories 29 April 2007 PRC Foreign investment 

  enterprise with 

  limited liability

US$1,000,000

(2016: US$1,000,000)

100% 100% Manufacturing and sale 

  of apparel accessories

STL Garment Accessories 31 December 2001 PRC Foreign investment 

  enterprise with 

  limited liability

US$2,400,000 

(2016: US$1,050,000)

100% 100% Manufacturing and sale

  of apparel accessories

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2017

30.	 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE OF THE COMPANY

2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000
   

NON-CURRENT ASSET

Interests in subsidiaries 48,429 48,429
   

CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments and other receivables 132 1,261

Bank balances and cash 26,102 –
   

26,234 1,261
   

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other payables 750 287

Amounts due to subsidiaries 3,179 3,387
   

3,929 3,674
   

NET CURRENT ASSETS (LIABILITIES) 22,305 (2,413)
   

NET ASSETS 70,734 46,016
   

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Share capital (note 22) 6,890 –

Reserves (note (a)) 63,844 46,016
   

70,734 46,016
   

Note a:

Share
premium

Accumulated
losses

Capital
reserve Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
     

At 22 January 2016 (date of incorporation) – – – –
Reserve arising from group reorganisation – – 48,429 48,429
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the period – (2,413) – (2,413)
     

At 31 December 2016 – (2,413) 48,429 46,016
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year – (11,810) – (11,810)
Dividend paid – (7,137) – (7,137)
Issuance of shares 44,785 – – 44,785
Transaction costs paid for issuance of shares (8,010) – – (8,010)
     

At 31 December 2017 36,775 (21,360) 48,429 63,844
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THREE YEARS’ FINANCIAL SUMMARY

 

The summary of the consolidated results of Reach New Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to the 

“Group”) for each of the three years ended 31 December 2015 and 2016 and of the assets, liabilities as at 31 December 2015 and 2016 

have been extracted from the Prospectus. The consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 and the 

consolidated assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2017 are set out in the audited consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

Year ended 31 December

2017 2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
    

REVENUE 102,807 105,199 95,609
    

(LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (3,006) 15,346 8,696

Income tax expense (3,457) (5,715) (2,582)
    

(LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (6,463) 9,631 6,114
    

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

As at 31 December

2017 2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
    

TOTAL ASSETS 89,935 67,390 64,554

TOTAL LIABILITIES (15,392) (22,912) (29,707)
    

74,543 44,478 34,847
    

EQUITY:

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 74,543 44,478 34,847
    

74,543 44,478 34,847
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